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Key Performance Indicators
Financial results

2013

20121)

±

±%
−19.4%
−23.5%
−0.5%
2.0%
0.0%
11.0%

Consolidated turnover
Turnover energy segment
Turnover Wiener Linien
Turnover WLB
Turnover funerals and cemeteries segment
Turnover car parks segment

EUR million
EUR million
EUR million
EUR million
EUR million
EUR million

3,044.4
2,430.4
474.7
96.1
70.4
17.1

3,775.8
3,178.7
477.2
94.2
70.4
15.4

−731.4
−748.3
−2.5
1.9
0.0
1.7

Consolidated EBT

EUR million

−330.6

−911.1

580.5

63.7%

Consolidated profit/loss

EUR million

0.0

−788.6

788.6

100.0%

Return on capital employed (ROCE)
Balance sheet total
Equity ratio
Total investments
of which tangible assets
CAPEX ratio

%
EUR million

5.5

4.4

1.1

25.0%

13,428.3

13,347.8

80.5

0.6%

%

34.4

35.5

−1.1

−3.1%

EUR million
EUR million

865.4
813.9

941.6
857.2

−76.2
−43.3

−8.1%
−5.1%

%

27.4

23.2

4.2

18.1%

2013

20121)

±

±%

Key Performance Indicators
Production
Electricity

GWh

3,974.2

6,653.8

−2,679.6

−40.3%

Heat

GWh

5,606.9

7,424.3

−1,817.4

−24.5%

Total production

GWh

9,581.1

14,078.1

−4,497.0

−31.9%

GWh

11,107.5

13,889.4

−2,781.9

−20.0%

Distribution
Electricity
Gas

GWh

19,431.7

28,295.0

−8,863.3

−31.3%

Heat

GWh

6,636.6

8,365.6

−1,729.0

−20.7%

Total distribution

GWh

37,175.8

50,550.0

−13,374.2

−26.5%

GWh

9,526.9

12,018.0

−2,491.1

−20.7%

Sales
Electricity
Gas

GWh

7,792.8

10,732.2

−2,939.4

−27.4%

Heat

GWh

6,166.8

7,669.7

−1,502.9

−19.6%

Total sales

GWh

23,486.5

30,419.9

−6,933.4

−22.8%

Passengers
Wiener Linien

million

900.0

906.6

−6.6

−0.7%

Wiener Lokalbahnen

million

11.9

12.4

−0.5

−4.0%

Total passengers

million

911.9

919.4

−7.5

−0.8%

10,430

11,797

−1,367

−11.6%

Parking spaces
Ownership & Leasehold
Management

6,134

7,304

−1,170

−16.0%

Total parking spaces

16,564

19,101

−2,537

−13.3%

Funeral services

19,071

19,126

−55

−0.3%

1)

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy segment relate to five quarters

Group Highlights

EUR 3,044.4 million
In the 2013 financial year, the Wiener Stadtwerke Group generated turnover amounting
to EUR 3,044.4 million.

EUR 865.4 million
capital expenditure
In the 2013 financial year, the Wiener Stadtwerke Group invested a total of EUR 865.4
million in capital expenditure. The main

TURNOVER BY SEGMENT

in percent

focusses of investment activity in the transport

78.7 % Energy

segment were the expansion of the underg-

18.5 % Transport

round network and new underground trains,

2.3 % Funerals and cemeteries
0.6 % Car parks

trams and buses. In the energy segment, the
main investments involved the gas and electricity networks and increased reliance on
renewable energy sources.

59.2 % Electricity
21.4 % Heat
19.4 % Gas

400 trainees
and apprentices are learning
twelve different professions at
Wiener Stadtwerke.

19,071
funeral services
were performed by the funerals and
cemeteries division in 2013.

16,100
employees
at Wiener Stadtwerke ensured that Vienna‘s
infrastructure ran smoothly in 2013.
Personalstand
HEADCOUNT

912 million
passengers
were transported by Wiener Linien
and W
 iener Lokalbahnen in 2013.

in percent
35.1 % Energy
56.9 % Transport
5.2 % Funerals and cemeteries
2.5 % Others
0.4 % Car parks
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Foreword by the Board of Management

F.l.t.r.:
Marc Hall
Gabriele Domschitz
Martin Krajcsir

Wiener Stadtwerke is one of the largest conglomerates
and employers in Austria. Our 16,000 employees make a
decisive contribution to the high quality of life in Vienna
by providing infrastructure services which are recognised
well beyond the region. A quality of life which is the envy
of the international community, as demonstrated in many
city comparison studies, in which our capital is always
found close to the top.
Our strategy is defined by a sense of social responsibility which sets us apart from other major corporations.
The activities of Wiener Stadtwerke as a publicly owned
company are aligned with the needs of society, and not
just on the basis of commercial success criteria. The
expansion of infrastructure in our city, from the extension
of the underground network and the acquisition of a new
fleet of buses to the upgrading of energy infrastructure,
is based on this social concept. Investing over 800 million
euro in the infrastructure of Vienna year after year means
that we are a major economic factor for the entire metropolitan region.
2013 was a particularly difficult year for energy companies
throughout Europe. The high price of gas on the one
hand, and the low price of electricity on spot markets
on the other, meant that Wiener Stadtwerke continued
to face major challenges in 2013; these included painful
extraordinary items in the form of millions of euro of
6

write-downs on plants in the thermal production segment. However, this had no impact on the cash flow of
our company, which remains healthy. The Group was able
to continue successfully with its clear course to increase
efficiency. At the same time, targeted investment for
the future continued to be made – a range of measures
forming the basis of a forwardly moving public utilities
company. Despite difficult economic conditions, we were
able to keep our employee headcount stable in 2013. We
have made it our objective in the coming year as well to
carry out rationalisation work in such a way that we transfer employees primarily to growth sectors. This is the only
way that Wiener Stadtwerke, as a leading infrastructure
group, will be able to actively shape the future of Vienna.

Martin Krajcsir
Chief Executive Officer
Gabriele Domschitz
Member of the Board of Management
Marc Hall
Member of the Board of Management
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Foreword by

Foreword by

Renate Brauner

Erich Hechtner

Vienna’s Deputy Mayor and City Councillor for Finances,
Economic Policy and Wiener Stadtwerke

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Wiener Stadtwerke

Vienna is a beautiful city with a quality of life that is among
the highest in the world. Many other large cities in and
beyond Europe envy Vienna for this high quality of life. The
number one reason for this is Vienna’s provider of infrastructure services – Wiener Stadtwerke. We can be proud of this
while at the same time not resting on our laurels. After all,
this leading position is testament, among other things, to
the Group’s continuous investment in Vienna’s infrastructure.

Despite difficult underlying financial conditions, Wiener
Stadtwerke demonstrated in the 2013 financial year that
it is a commercially viable company. This year once again
saw investment in the sectors of transport and energy,
which make a key contribution to ensuring Vienna’s
high quality of life. These investments in Vienna’s infrastructure not only help to spur on the economy in the
region, but also create thousands of jobs beyond Wiener Stadtwerke itself. The keys to the success of Wiener
Stadtwerke include the high quality of its products and
services, and responsible company management. Pursuing social and environmental projects does not preclude
commercial success. Wiener Stadtwerke proved this once
again in the past financial year.

In the coming five years, there are plans to invest around
four billion euro in the centre of economic activity which is
Vienna. Indeed, 870 million euro was invested in the 2013
financial year alone. In the mobility sector, Vienna’s population is benefiting in particular from the extension of the
underground network, from the new buses and from the
new generation of ULF trams. Wiener Stadtwerke is investing around 1.9 billion euro in total here. The use of renewable sources of energy is being promoted with investments
of around two billion euro in the energy sector, with
security of supply being increased at the same time. An
example here is the enormously success of so-called citizen
power plant projects, which have already begun supplying
many households with solar energy.
The Wiener Stadtwerke Group also invests in research,
technology and development in order to be able to master
future challenges. Research projects such as ‘SMILE’ or the
mobility card help the city of Vienna to be prepared for the
challenges of the future.

Wiener Stadtwerke bears a high degree of financial
responsibility. In order to do justice to this, a range of
structures and mechanisms were put in place early on
to ensure transparency for the owners, audit bodies and
the general public, as well as to make sure that risks are
handled appropriately and the focus remains on longterm success.
However, it is not just the management team that bears
great responsibility, but the employees as well. Day in,
day out, they work to ensure that the city keeps operating
smoothly. On behalf of the City of Vienna, I would like to
extend a special thanks to them for their hard work and
dedication.

Vienna needs innovations such as these, together with
committed employees, in order to remain the world’s city
offering the highest quality of life in the future. Wiener
Stadtwerke will continue to accept this challenge in the
years to come, and that despite the difficult economic
environment. For this I would like to express my gratitude
on behalf of all Vienna‘s inhabitants.
7

Sustainable
investments
in urban
infrastructure

Vienna is growing. A challenge for transport
planning, the connection to new residential
areas and the upgrading of growing residential areas. Wiener Stadtwerke is investing
around four billion euro in expanding
the city’s infrastructure over the coming five
years. Almost two billion euro of this is for
the extension of the public transport network, more than one billion euro for the
expansion of the energy networks and
around 600 million euro is being invested in
the increased use of renewable energy
sources, district heating and district cooling.
Through these investments, Wiener
Stadtwerke are not only safeguarding supply
but also creating thousands of jobs in
the Greater Vienna metropolitan area as
well.

Consolidated
Management Report
for the 2013 financial year

Consolidated Management Report Annual Report 2013

1. Operations
The Wiener Stadtwerke Group is a modern infrastructure
provider and one of the largest conglomerates, investors
and employers in Austria. Its commercial activities can
be broken down into the segments energy, transport,
funerals and cemeteries, and car parks. The energy segment covers the areas of production, network operation
and sales, whereby the main focus is on ensuring reliable
supplies of electricity, gas and district heating. Wiener
Stadtwerke also provides a comprehensive range of
services in the area of public transport (transport segment: Wiener Linien and Wiener Lokalbahnen), funerals
and cemetery administration, as well as parking (car parks
segment). The high quality, reliable and safe services
offered by the Group make an important contribution to
the very high quality of life enjoyed in the city; something
which is recognised internationally and has also been
attested by studies.

2. Legal environment and other
circumstances
The segments of the Wiener Stadtwerke Group largely
have to operate in deregulated or regulated environments. While, for example, the sales markets in which the
energy segment operates have been fully deregulated,
the setting of tariffs for the electricity and gas networks
continues to be decided upon by a public-sector regulator. The funerals market in Austria was deregulated as
early as 2002. The transport segment has been able to
benefit from the deregulation of the freight transport
market but remains subject to several special provisions
pertaining to short-range public transportation.

Specifics of the 2013 financial year

For this reason, a restructuring project entitled the Megawatt Programme has been launched to realign the energy
segment. The Megawatt Programme consists of several
sub-projects, the aim of which is the realignment in terms
of structural measures (reorganisation in the energy
segment, U13 project), growth measures as part of the
new 2030 Energy Strategy (S30 project) and measures
to optimise processes and boost efficiency (E17 and N17
projects).
The Megawatt Programme is being implemented in
order for us to be able to fulfil our important role as an
infrastructure service provider for Vienna and to provide
secure, forward-looking and high-quality jobs for motivated employees.
Reorganisations in the energy segment
(U13 project)
The companies in the energy segment of Wiener
Stadtwerke have – historically speaking – been independently active, vertically integrated companies. It
was necessary to make changes to how the companies
were organised as a result of the liberalisation of the
energy market, in particular because of the unbundling of
distribution network operators in the electricity and gas
markets.
Wien Energie Stromnetz GmbH and Wien Energie Gasnetz GmbH were established as dedicated network companies in order to meet the requirements made by the
Austrian Electricity Act (EIWOG 2012) and the Austrian
Natural Gas Act (GWG) to unbundle vertically integrated
energy providers; the so-called Great Network Solution
which was implemented by transferring ownership in the
electricity grid to the network company through Company reorganisation measures in 2010 relating to the
electricity grid. Wiener Netze GmbH was the result of
these legal changes.

Megawatt Programme
Energy companies are currently faced with a difficult
economic environment. The production of electricity
and district heating using gas-fired power plants is only
economically viable to a limited extent in view of the high
price of natural gas and low electricity prices. At the same
time, the efficiency of internal processes needs to be
significantly improved so as to withstand the pressure of
competition in the market.

The restructuring process now being carried out entitled
U13, which forms part of the Megawatt Programme, is
intended to continue with the measures by setting up a
joint combination system operator for the electricity, gas,
district heating and telecommunications network in order
to harness synergy effects in network operations as a
whole and to be able to fulfil the statutory requirements
of vertically integrated electricity companies in the Group
in an optimum way.
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In addition to this, the merger of Wien Energie GmbH
and Fernwärme Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H should make
it possible to make the most of potential synergies in
the areas of generation and distribution, as well as in
the respective management functions. The aim of the
competition-oriented restructuring is to achieve a competitive sales structure, particularly in the heating sector,
thereby being able to offer one face to the customer
with efficient services. Furthermore, joint management of
the production portfolio will enable key synergies to be
achieved in the area of production.
The restructuring process was implemented in three
reorganisation steps at the same tax cut-off date, the
last balance sheet date. In the course of the merger
between Fernwärme Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H. with WIEN
ENERGIE GmbH, the assets and liabilities of Fernwärme
Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H were revalued. The remaining
reorganisation steps were carried out applying the principle of continuance of carrying amounts.

3. Economic environment
After the difficulties of the previous years, 2013 showed
increasing signs of stabilisation in the global economic
situation, albeit with significant regional differences.
While, according to estimates by the World Bank, US economic growth slowed from 2.7 percent in the prior year
to 1.8 percent, China’s economy continued to perform
robustly with a year-on-year GDP increase of 7.7 percent.
Following a recession in the prior year, a state of stagnation with positive signals took hold in the European Union
in 2013 and became more pronounced in the second
half of the year. Germany remained an important pillar of
economic growth despite experiencing a slowdown from
0.7 percent to 0.5 percent in 2013; it is expected to retain
this position in 2014 as well according to forecasts by the
European Commission with GDP growth of 1.7 percent.
The Austrian economy expanded by 0.4 percent in 2013
according to calculations by the European Commission
after 0.9 percent in the prior year. The expectations are
that the economy will experience stronger recovery in
2014. Falling energy and food prices helped to rein in
inflation, which declined from 2.6 percent to 2.1 percent
in 2013 according to the consumer price index based on
studies by the Austrian Central Bank. The situation in
the Austrian labour market was mixed in 2013. Despite
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a greater number of people in work, the unemployment
rate of 4.4 percent in the prior year rose to 4.9 percent in
2013 according to Eurostat. Nevertheless, this is still one
of the lowest rates in the European Union.
Aside from the necessary consolidation of government
budgets and underlying structural reforms, which posed
challenges in particular to the South and South-East
European EU Member States, the economic situation
was marked by the European Central Bank’s policy of
pursuing low interest rates. The ECB cut the base rate
in May and November 2013 by 25 basis points on each
occasion to 0.25 percent, and once again signalled its
intention to keep to its expansive monetary policy in the
long term.
Sources: World Bank, European Commission, Austrian Central Bank.

4. Corporate strategy
Wiener Stadtwerke continued to define itself as a
public-sector company in 2013 with a remit to be a
comprehensive provider of essential public services to
the population of Vienna, as well as to be an attractive
employer and a responsible member of the local community. Through this strategy, Wiener Stadtwerke has made
an important contribution to the consistently high quality
of life in the city over the past years.
Even though the cornerstones of the strategy and the
Group’s objectives have not changed significantly, the
difficult underlying economic conditions made it necessary for us to focus on strategic decisions in 2013.
As the largest division of the Company, the energy
segment was the spearhead of these decisions. With its
obligation to ensuring the continuity of Company development, the energy division adopted an every clearer
commercial orientation and alignment towards economic
success with its 2030 strategy in light of the possibilities
and necessities. The focus across the Group was squarely
on efficiency and Group-wide synergies.
We think in terms of Vienna’s future and continue to
see ourselves as a central player in the development of
Vienna to become a ‘smart city’, particularly with energy
and transportation, as two key elements of the smart
city concept, belonging to the core competencies of the
Group.

Consolidated Management Report Annual Report 2013

5. Turnover and earnings position

TURNOVER BY SEGMENT
in percent

With effect from 1 January 2013, the balance sheet dates
of affiliated companies within the Wiener Stadtwerke
Group have been harmonised. The period between
30 September 2012 and 31 December 2012 was reported
in the separate financial statements of the Group’s
energy segment subsidiaries as a short financial year. In
the financial statements of the Wiener Stadtwerke Group,
however, the energy segment took into account, on an
exceptional basis, five quarters.

78.7 % Energy
18.5 % Transport
2.3 % Funerals and cemeteries
0.6 % Car parks

For this reason, the following tables and charts reporting
figures for 2012 actually include five quarters.

59.2 % Electricity
21.4 % Heat
19.4 % Gas

Development of results
The majority of the drop in turnover is accounted for by
the inclusion of the fifth quarter of 2012 for the energy
segment. Restated to exclude the fifth quarter, turnover fell in the energy segment and displayed virtually
unchanged trends in the other segments.

ABRIDGED P ROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

Financial results in EUR million

2013

20121)

±

±%

3,044.4

3,775.8

−731.4

−19.4

81.7

76.5

5.2

6.8

Other operating income

696.6

682.6

14.0

2.0

Operating performance

3,822.7

4,534.9

−712.2

−15.7

Cost of materials

−1,650.4

−2,080.3

429.9

20.7

Personnel expenses

−1,166.6

−2,005.0

838.4

41.8

Depreciation and amortisation

−787.4

−655.1

−132.3

−20.2

Other operating expenses

−603.9

−673.4

69.5

10.3

Consolidated EBIT

−385.7

−879.0

493.3

56.1

55.1

−32.1

87.2

271.8

Consolidated EBT

−330.6

−911.1

580.5

63.7

Consolidated profit/loss for the year after minority interests

−330.7

−911.1

580.4

63.7

0.0

−788.6

788.6

100.0

Turnover
Change in inventory and own work capitalised

Consolidated financial result

Consolidated profit / loss for the year

1)

Differences as a result of rounding figures have not been eliminated
Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy segment relate to five quarters
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The rise in own work capitalised is primarily attributable
to investment projects in the energy segment. A larger
year-on-year grant from the City of Vienna to Wiener
Linien and the reversal of provisions in the network
division are included under ‘Other operating income’.
Land sales in the funerals and cemeteries segment had a
compensatory effect in 2012 which could not be repeated
to the same extent in 2013.

DEVELOPMENT OF PERSONNEL EXPENSES
in EUR million
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013

For more information on the revenue structure, please
refer to the section entitled ‘Segment reporting’.

682.3

191.6 133.6 15.1

682.5

207.7 138.9 11.5

703.4

201.9 145.4 14.7

828.6
747.6

975.4
244.1

173.9 27.1

158.8 16.1

   Wages and salaries
   Pension fund contributions

DEVELOPMENT OF PRODUCTIVITY

    Legally required social costs (incl. salary-related charges and mandatory charges)

in TEUR

   Miscellaneous

2009

15,767

   190.4

15,906

2010

16,024

2012

16,102

2013

   191.7
   192.2
   189.1

   Headcount	      Productivity
Productivity =

Consolidated turnover
Average headcount (incl. trainees)

As a result of the decline in turnover and increase in
headcount, 2013 saw a slight fall in productivity.
The change in the calculation method for pension
provisions to the entry-age normal method pursuant to
the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB) in the 2012 financial year, together with the simultaneous cut in the real
interest rate to 2.5 percent, necessitated the allocation of
more funds to pension provisions. Furthermore, the 2012
figures for the energy segment related to five quarters
due to the change in the balance sheet date, which led to
a further rise in personnel expenses.
Once adjusted for these effects, total personnel
expenses were slightly above those of the prior year,
which is attributable to the higher headcount, general
collective agreement salary increases and individual progressions and salary increases.

14

ment relate to five quarters.

   192.4

15,955

2011

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy seg-

The depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible assets include impairment charges taken during
the financial year relating to unscheduled write-downs
of thermal power station assets amounting to EUR 249.1
million. These were necessary as a result of the difficult
environment in the energy sector and represent a full
write-down of the thermal power station park.
A contingent liability for power supply rights was also
created for the same reason.
The position ‘Other operating expenses’ primarily
records maintenance and third-party services as well as
advertising, IT, legal and consultancy expenses, rental,
lease and expenses for personnel training.
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) for 2013 improved
to EUR −385.7 million from EUR −879.0 million in the prior
year. This figure for the prior year included additional provisions for pension obligations and a number of impairment charges which offset the valuation issues already
mentioned for 2013.
The increase in the financial result is largely attributable
to the impairment of investments in EconGas and Verbund shares made in the prior year which were acquired
in the course of the capital increase.

Consolidated Management Report Annual Report 2013

Earnings before tax (EBT) amounted to EUR −330.6
million for 2013. Adjusted for valuation measures (impairment of the thermal power station park, revaluation of the
district heating network, contingent liabilities for power
supply rights, consolidation effects from the reorganisation measures in the energy segment), earnings before
tax were positive at EUR 25.6 million.
Following the release of capital reserves, the profit/loss
for the 2013 financial year amounted to a consolidated
loss of EUR 0 million.
Profitability and earnings quality
D E V E L O P M E N T O F W I E N E R S TA D T W E R K E G R O U P
26.8

2009
21.2

2010
15.3

2011
2012

−2.5

   6.4

   7.6

   6.2

   7.1

   5.6

   7.0

   4.4
25.6

2013

   5.4

   5.5

   7.0

    Financial result in EUR million        ROCE in %         EBIT margin in %
EBIT margin =

EBIT (restated)
Turnover (restated)

ROCE (Return on Average Capital Employed) =

EBIT (adjusted)
(Capital employed current period +
Capital employed prior period) × 0.5

Turnover (restated) = T
 urnover − Intra-Group revenues from electricity production from companies
consolidated under the equity method
EBIT (restated) = E
 BIT (restated) + Interest-based components of provisions for pensions
+ Effects of grant-financed investments
EBIT (adjusted) = EBIT (restated) + Minority interests in associated companies
Capital employed = EBIT (adjusted) + Interest-bearing loans (inc. social capital) − Non-current
financial assets − Securities held-for-sale − Cash and cash in bank

The development of profitability across a five-year horizon reflects the difficult environment faced by the energy
sector in recent years which has had a tangible impact on
earnings despite the effectiveness of countermeasures
and steps to increase efficiency. Restated to eliminate the
revaluation measures mentioned above, ROCE amounted
to 5.5 percent.

6. Asset and capital structure
The balance sheet total of the Wiener Stadtwerke Group
rose in 2013 by approximately 0.6 percent to EUR 13,428.3
million. As is to be expected in the case of an infrastructure service provider such as Wiener Stadtwerke, fixed
assets represent by far the most significant asset position.
The recognised value of tangible assets on the balance
sheet date 2013 stood at EUR 9,483.9 million or approx.
0.2 percent higher than a year earlier. As such, 70.6 percent of the balance sheet total is accounted for by tangible assets. Recognised current assets consist primarily of
accounts receivable and other assets. Cash assets, consisting of cash held and positive bank balances, rose over
the course of the financial year by around 56.2 percent to
EUR 330.5 million, largely attributable to higher positive
balances at banks.
The shareholder equity of the Wiener Stadtwerke Group,
100 percent of which is held by the City of Vienna,
declined in terms of nominal value over the course of the
2013 financial year by 2.7 percent to around EUR 4,618.3
million. The main reason for this was the negative result
for the period due to the revaluation measures mentioned above. At year-end 2013, the Wiener Stadtwerke
Group had an equity ratio of 34.4 percent (2012:
35.5 percent).
Recognised provisions amount to EUR 3,641.4 million,
equivalent to 27.1 percent of the balance sheet total
and 3.2 percent above the level of the prior year. These
relate primarily to the provision for pension obligations.
On the grounds of the so-called Vienna Public Enterprises – Allocation Act (Zuweisungsgesetz), the Wiener
Stadtwerke Group is required to fully reimburse the City
of Vienna the pension-related expenses of the employees assigned to it, with the exception of those at Wiener
Linien. This results in a direct pension obligation for the
Group.
Both the accounts payable and the accrued expenses
and deferred income in 2013, recognised at EUR 1,465.4
million and 3,703.1 million respectively, are slightly above
the prior-year values. The recognised value of accrued
expenses and deferred income consists primarily of
investment and building grants (EUR 3,544.5 million in
total) associated with fixed assets. These represent future
revenues which are reversed to negate the depreciation expense over periods which parallel the scheduled
depreciation of the relevant assets for which the grants
were provided to some extent at least.
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A S S E T A N D C A P I TA L S T R U C T U R E

31.12.2013

31.12.2012

in EUR million

as % of balance
sheet total

in EUR million

as % of balance
sheet total

11,985.9

89.3

11,961.3

89.6

9,483.9

70.6

9,467.9

70.9

1,079.1

8.0

981.8

7.4

363.2

2.7

404.7

3.0

13,428.3

100.0

13,347.8

100.0

Shareholder’s equity

4,618.3

34.4

4,745.1

35.5

Provisions

3,641.4

27.1

3,530.2

26.4

Liabilities

1,465.4

10.9

1,437.8

10.8

Accrued expenses and deferred income

3,703.1

27.6

3,634.7

27.2

13,428.3

100.0

13,347.8

100.0

Fixed assets
of which tangible assets
Current assets
Accrued income and prepayments
Total assets

Total equity and liabilities


Differences as a result of rounding figures have not been eliminated

Key Performance
Indicators

2013

2012

±

±%

Equity ratio in %

34.4

35.5

−1.1

−3.1

Equity-to-fixed-assets ratio in %

98.0

96.7

1.3

1.3

Capitalisation ratio in %

89.3

89.6

−0.3

−0.3

7.8

8.4

−0.6

−7.1

Notional debt repayment
period in years
Shareholder’s equity =

Total equity
Balance sheet total

Equity-to-fixed-assets ratio =

Asset utilisation =

× 100

(Shareholder‘s equity + Social capital
+ Non-current borrowing + Deferred investment grants)

Fixed assets
Total assets

Notional debt repayment period =

Fixed assets

× 100

× 100
Total liabilities
Net cash flow

The internal ratings of banks providing funding (assessments based on the Internal Ratings-Based Approach
defined by Basel II) are drawn upon in order to assess the
Group’s creditworthiness. These regularly confirm the
outstanding creditworthiness of Wiener Stadtwerke.
At the balance sheet date, the Group recognised contingent liabilities in the amount of TEUR 485,932 (prior year:
TEUR 496,632). These liabilities are offset by contingent
receivables in the amount of TEUR 234,889 (prior year:
TEUR 269,862).
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The contingent liabilities include US cross-border lease
transactions entered into by Wiener Linien in the amount
of TEUR 225,233 (prior year: TEUR 242,841). These liabilities are offset by means of rights of recourse in the same
amount recognised as assets.
A number of restricted and unrestricted letters of comfort and guarantees have been issued on behalf of e&t
Energie Handelsgesellschaft. Taking into account the
contracts concluded by e&t Energie Handelsgesellschaft
m. b. H. with its trading partners, the net liability position
amounts to EUR 82,430 million (prior year: TEUR 70,348).
In the event that the guarantees and or letters of comfort issued in favour of trading partners of e&t Energie
Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H. are called in or exercised by
the same, then Wien Energie GmbH may assert rights
of recourse against the remaining shareholders in the
amount of TEUR 21,280 (prior year: TEUR 17,366).
The remaining contingent liabilities relate predominantly
to liability bonds issued in favour of EconGas GmbH and
Verbund, and comfort letters and guarantees issued in
favour of Oemag AG, AWISTA GmbH, Gate Terminal
Rotterdam and for locomotives owned by Wiener Lokalbahnen Cargo GmbH.
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INVESTMENT AND FINANCIAL POSITIONS

in EUR million

2013

Investments in intangible
assets
Investments in tangible assets

1)

±

±%

20.3

18.8

1.5

8.0

813.9

857.2

−43.4

−5.1

Investments in financial assets
Total investment

20121)

31.2

65.6

−34.4

−52.4

865.4

941.6

−76.3

−8.1

investment activity, although the impairment charges
taken in 2012 and 2013 on power stations will slow this
trend in the future.
Due to the higher level of investment in tangible assets,
the CAPEX ratio rose in 2013 to 27.4 percent compared with 23.2 percent in the prior year, while turnover
declined at the same time

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy

FINANCING

segment relate to five quarters

In 2013, the Wiener Stadtwerke Group undertook investments with a total volume of EUR 865.4 million, 3.6 percent below the level of the prior year after restating to
exclude the figures for the fifth quarter in the energy
segment. The major focuses of investment activity were
in the transport segment (the expansion of the underground network and the purchase of underground
trains, trams and buses), as well as in the energy sector
(investments in electricity and gas networks as well as the
increased use of renewable energies) and the funeral and
cemeteries segment (investments in new buildings).
I N V E S T M E N T S A N D D E P R E C I AT I O N / A M O R T I S AT I O N
( TA N G I B L E A N D I N TA N G I B L E A S S E T S )
in EUR million
2009

493

2010

515

2012

±

±%

Operating cash flow before
changes in working capital

434.8

429.9

4.9

1.1

Change in working capital
and operating cash flow
(long-term)

−9.3

15.7

−25.0

−159.0

Cash flow from
operating activities

425.5

445.6

−20.1

−4.5

Cash flow from
investment activities

−512.3

−607.7

95.4

15.7

205.7

−90.5

296.2

−327.3

Change in cash and cash
equivalents

118.9

−252.6

371.5

147.1

Balance of cash and cash
equivalents2) at 31.12.

330.5

211.6

118.9

56.2

Cash flow from
financing activities

1)

   22.7
876

   23.2

834
787

2013

20121)

   24.2

696

655

2013

   23.0

742

534

2011

   Investments

690

Abridged balance sheet
in EUR million

   27.4

   Depreciation and amortisation	      CAPEX ratio

CAPEX ratio = Investments in tangible and intangible assets / Turnover
Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy
segment relate to five quarters

The rise in depreciation expenses incurred in the 2013
financial year is primarily attributable to the impairment charges taken against power station assets.
Given that depreciation expenses for assets will only
be incurred after the relevant assets have been commissioned and due to the fact that the underlying
useful life of such assets often extends into decades,
this comparably high level of investment will continue
to have a significant impact on the development of
earnings in the years to come. Generally speaking,
depreciation expenses have been increasing steadily
for a number of years due to the Group’s intensive

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy
segment relate to five quarters

2)

Cash and cash equivalents are the sum of the cash and bank balance positions

Despite the consolidation of the fifth quarter of the
energy segment in 2012, the cash flow from earnings
exceeded the prior year’s level, which is the result of
its greater contribution through cash flow to the net
loss for the year. The reason for the fall in changes in
working capital is a slight increase in current receivables and a considerable decline in current liabilities. In
long-term operating activities, a positive cash flow has
been achieved through a reduction in receivables and an
increase in liabilities, which however only partly offsets
the effect of the change in working capital.
The negative cash flow from investment activities reflects
the high volume of investments by Wiener Stadtwerke,
which is offset by cash inflows from investment and building grants.
Cash flow from financing activities shows the centralised
take-up of borrowed capital on the capital market.

17

Annual Report 2013 Consolidated Management Report

The Wiener Stadtwerke Group funds its investments by
means of operational cash flows and the taking out of
medium and long-term loans, as well as through investment grants obtained from the public sector, with the latter mainly benefiting the transport segment. In as far as
these are not received from the shareholder, the investment grants are recognised and reported as accrued
expenses and are reversed in line with the depreciation
period based on the useful life of the corresponding
assets acquired. Investment grants received from the
shareholder, on the other hand, are recognised as capital
increases in equity.
At 30 June 2013, Wiener Stadtwerke Holding AG had borrowed EUR 200 million on the capital market by means
of bonded loans and registered bonds. Approximately
70 institutional investors from Austria and Germany
subscribed to bullet loans or bonds with terms of 5, 7, 10
and 15 years. The bonds with terms of 5 and 7 years were
issued with fixed and variable interest rates; those with
terms of 10 and 15 years exclusively with fixed interest
rates. The funds were passed on to Group companies via
back-to-back contracts.

Wiener Lokalbahnen Group combined to form the transport segment.

Energy segment
Energy segment

Production

Electricity + heat

Distribution

Electricity + gas + heat

Sales

Electricity + gas + heat

The energy segment consists of the operational areas
of production, networks and sales. Around two million
people, 230,000 businesses and industrial facilities and
public buildings, as well as 4,500 agricultural customers
in Vienna and parts of Lower Austria and Burgenland are
supplied with electricity, gas and district heating. Besides
production and sales, the top priority is end-to-end security of supply, an objective which is pursued by means
of targeted expansion and the constant renewal of the
electricity, gas and district heating networks.

Legal framework conditions

7. Segment reporting

System utilisation charges

SEGMENTS

Energy segment

Transport segment

Production

Electricity + heat

Distribution

Electricity + gas + heat

Sales

Electricity + gas + heat

Local passenger
services
Transport services
for
the disabled
Rail cargo

Funerals and
cemeteries segment

Funeral services

Car parks segment

Car parks owned
(incl. leased)

Cemeteries

Car parks
managed

In line with the management approach, the segments
reported here form the basis for the intra-Group structure of financial reporting, with the divisions Wiener
Netze and Wien Energie being consolidated in the
energy segment, and the divisions Wiener Linien and
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On 20 December 2013, the amendments to the Electricity System Charges Ordinance 2012 and the Gas System
Charges Ordinance 2013 made by the regulation commission were published for tariffs valid from 1 January
2014. The basis for these amendments were the cost
audit assessments issued by the Executive Board of
Energie-Control Austria (E-Control) following the cost
audits of the electricity and gas divisions carried out in
2013. Wiener Netze has (initially) filed complaints with the
regulatory commission against the aforementioned cost
audit assessments by the Executive Board of ECA. Due to
the administrative reform, the responsibility for handling
complaints passed to the new Federal Administrative
Court as of 1 January 2014. Both complaint proceedings
against the cost assessments are pending there and did
not have the effect of delaying the introduction of the
respective system charges ordinances.
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Amendments to the Austrian Electricity Act (EIWOG)
and the Austrian Natural Gas Act (GWG)
The amendments to the 2010 Austrian Electricity Act
(EIWOG), the 2011 Austrian Natural Gas Act (GWG) and
the Energie-Control Act were published in the Federal
Gazette No. 174/2013 dated 06. August 2013. Detailed
provisions on how to change supplier were included, as
well as relating to registering for and cancelling services
(see here Point Electricity and Gas Switching Ordinance),
among others.
By the same token, a provision was included for the first
time stating that in the event of a customer claiming universal service from a supplier, the system operator is no
longer allowed to disconnect the facility even if system
charges remain unpaid. If subsequent system charges
should again remain unpaid, the system operator may
physically disconnect a customer; however the customer
can prevent any future disconnection by applying for a
prepayment meter.
Furthermore, detailed provisions relating to the introduction of smart meters were also included. Particular
attention is to be drawn to the ‘opt-out’ right of the customer pursuant to Section 83 (1) of the Austrian Electricity
Act (EIWOG) and Section 128 (1) of the Austrian Natural
Gas Act (GWG): “If the provisions on smart meter rollout in the ordinance allow so, the system operators shall
respect the consumer’s wish not to have a smart meter.”
Given that, in the case of electricity, there is already an
ordinance which stipulates the intention to introduce
smart meters and achieve 95 percent coverage by 2019,
it is unclear how to handle customers who do not wish to
have a smart meter. It is also unclear how to proceed in
the case of changes of address (around 140,000 cases in
the Vienna network each year) if, for instance, customers
without a smart meter move.
Electricity and gas switching ordinances
The E-Control ordinances on switching suppliers, new registrations and cancellations in the area of electricity and
gas came into effect on 2 January 2013 (Electricity Switching Ordinance 2012 and Gas Switching Ordinance 2012).
In the provisions of the Austrian Electricity Act (EIWOG)
and the Austrian Natural Gas Act (GWG), these stipulate that a switch must be effected within three weeks
of the system operator being informed of this, which is
to be done on a daily basis and not on the first day of

each month as previously the case. In order to be able to
implement this amendment, work had begun in advance
on implementing a switching platform at the clearing
offices (APCS and AGCS). Section 123 (4) of the Austrian
Natural Gas Act (GWG) and Section 76 (3) of the Austrian
Electricity Act (EIWOG) provide the basis for the switching platform of the clearing offices.
The statutory requirements made of the distribution
system operator to enable switches to be instated
every day following a three-week notice period could
only be implemented to the extent of the three-week
notice period as the APCS and AGCS switching platform
required for this to be possible on a daily basis was not in
place as of 2 January 2013. Only with considerable efforts
on the part of the system operators, in particular Wiener
Netze, was it finally possible to bring the switching platform online as of 2 October 2013.
Energy Emergency Powers Act 2012
The Energy Emergency Powers Act 2012 (Energie
lenkungsgesetz) repealed the previously applicable law
from 1982, which had been amended on several occasions, as of 26 February 2013, although there was only a
limited number of changes to its contents. The Federal
Minister of Economy continues to have the power to issue
direct orders to energy companies to prevent an impending disruption to Austria’s energy supply or to deal with
one which has already occurred. This includes the country’s supply of electricity, gas and now heating as well,
whereby co-generation power plants or district heating
companies with a thermal bottleneck output of at least
50 MW or annual heating sales of more than 300 GWh are
included.
System service quality
The E-Control Executive Board Ordinance on System
Service Quality (Ordinance on Electricity System Service
Quality 2012, END-VO 2012) came into effect on 1 July
2013 and amended the Ordinance on Gas System Service
Quality 2012 (Gasnetzdienstleistungsqualitätsverordnung
2012) following publication on 18 September 2013. These
set out comprehensive standards for distribution system
operators in respect of the security, reliability and quality
of services for system users and other market participants,
as well as KPIs to monitor compliance with these standards.
This ordinance means that major changes need to be
made to some processes. Some of associated obligations
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are already included in the applicable system conditions.
For instance, any supply disruptions must be announced
five days in advance. Furthermore, requirements are
set out regarding the content of information provided
to customers together with comprehensive reporting
obligations. Similarly, the standards to be complied with
should be published on the website of the respective
system operator.
National law on the promotion of the installation of
district heating and cooling pipelines (WKLG)
The national law on the promotion of the installation of district heating and cooling pipelines (WKLG) passed in 2008
provided new possibilities to expand the supply of district
heating. Up to EUR 60 million per year of federal funds
is planned to be made available for heating and cooling
pipes. Despite the lower amount of funds, it has since been
possible to acquire subsidies for a number of projects.

High oil imports by China and lower output volumes
in OPEC countries drove the price of crude oil above
USD 119 per barrel in the middle of February 2013.
The price subsequently declined slightly until April as
a result of weak economic data from the USA. It then
stagnated at around USD 102 per barrel until June 2013,
with demand being met sufficiently. However, not least
in light of unrest in Libya and Egypt, prices began to
rise again in the middle of June, peaking at an average price of USD 111.9 per barrel in Septem-ber. After
tailing off to certain extent in October and November,
the rise in prices continued towards the end of the
year. However, the strength of the euro compared with
the US dollar absorbed the effects of this rise in prices
significantly.
Development of natural gas prices
DEVELOPMENT OF GAS PRICES
in ct/kWh
3,5

Temperature developments

3.09

3,0 2.78

Measured in terms of the total heating degree days, the
standard parameter used to determine temperature-related
energy requirements, the temperatures prevailing in the
supply area of Wien Energie during the reporting period
were around 4.2 percent lower than the average value
of recent years and around 3.9 percent lower than in the
previous year. This is due to a very cold first half of the year,
which was more than offset by the mild temperature developments in the second half of the year. This had a positive
effect by tendency on turnover in the energy segment.

Demand-side and price developments
Development of crude oil prices
DEVELOPMENT OF OIL PRICES
in US$/bbl. and EUR/bbl.
120
100

115.1

110.6

110.8

87.7

80 85.7

80.9

60
Jan. 12

Jul. 12

    Oil price in USD/barrel
    Oil price in EUR/barrel

20

Jan. 13

Jul. 13

Dec. 13

Source: Thomson Reuters (ICE)

2.86
2.76

2,5

2.77

2,0 2.22
1,5
Jan. 12
   Imported gas

Jul. 12

Jan. 13

Jul. 13

Dec. 13

   NCG
Source: prices for imported gas: Statistics Austria, Janmuary 2014
November and December 2013: Wien Energie estimates
NCG price: Thomson Reuters (EEX NCG)

The average price of imported gas in the 2013 financial year was around 0.7 percent higher than in the
prior year. The price of HUB-indexed gas (NetConnect
Germany, NCG) trended below the price of imported
gas, although the gap between the two prices closed
considerably. This trend was attributable to generally
high prices in Germany. NCG prices increased markedly in March 2013 in particular as gas storage facilities
were empty at this time as a result of the cold winter
and had to be filled (at short notice). This had an impact
on spot prices, which rose sharply for a short period
of time. This was followed by a downward trend. In the
third quarter of 2013, the NCG price was at a high level
and trending upwards slightly. In the fourth quarter,
heavy snowfall in the Alps triggered a rise in day-ahead
market rate to over 2.7 cent per kilowatt hour. Although temperatures rose significantly from the middle
of October and record highs were achieved during the
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autumn in contrast to forecasts, the price remained virtually unchanged at a level above 2.6 cent per kilowatt
hour. It was the warmest autumn since records began
across almost the whole of Europe. Despite this, prices
increased at the start of the heating period in November and December.

Development of prices for CO2 emission certificates
D E V E L O P M E N T O F C O 2- C E R T I F I C AT E P R I C E S
in EUR/t
8
7

Development of electricity prices

7.0

6

D E V E L O P M E N T O F E L E C T R I C I T Y P R I C E S / S P O T M A R K E T  
in EUR/MWh

6.2

5
4.4

4
3

70

NAP II

ECG 2011

2
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40

53.8

53.5
50.6
39.9

35.5

Jan. 12

Jul. 12

Jan. 13

37.8

Jul. 13

Jan. 12

Jul. 12

Jan. 13

Jul. 13

Dec. 13

Source: Thomson Reuters (ICE)

48.7

42.7

30
20

50.4

35.7

Dec. 13

   Peak        Base         Peak avg.        Base avg.
Source: Base/Peak (EEX market price monthly average)

The price of electricity continued to decline in January
2013, a trend which was largely attributable to the considerable expansion of photovoltaic and wind power in Germany. The slight improvement in prices at the beginning
of February was due to the set-aside and backloading
discussions held by the EU with regard to the temporary
withdrawal of CO2 certificates. Shortly afterwards, prices
began falling again.
As of the middle of June, prices began to rise again which
was the result of a positive decision on backloading.

The decline in CO2 certificate prices which began in middle of 2011 continued in the 2013 financial year. Starting at
a price of around six euro per tonne at the beginning of
the financial year, price fell to below EUR 3.50 per tonne
by the end of January. The volatility of price development in the course of the year was driven by EU policy to
reform how CO2 emission certificates are traded. Optimistic rumours regarding back-loading led to temporary
price increases as of February 2013. However, a negative
decision by the EU parliament with regard to a reduction
in CO2 certificates in April caused prices to dip below
EUR 2.75 per tonne. Only once a positive decision was
made on 3 July did prices for CO2 emission certificates
recover, which continued to trend at a level between
EUR 4.00 and EUR 5.50 per tonne until the end of the
year.
The Third Trading Period, which started in 2013, will only
involve a lower free allocation of certificates for CHP generating facilities. The remaining requirements will have to
be met by means of auctions or in the market.

In September, the peak price reached the level of the
previous year, with the base price only just falling short of
this.
The final quarter of 2013 was marked by comparatively
mild temperatures and high network injections from wind
power. Despite a brief cold snap at the end of November, the average base and peak prices were more than
10 percent below those of the previous year in both October and November. Despite much higher prices around
Christmas, the base price in December was only able to
match the (low) level of the previous year.
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Key performance indicators
Production in GWh

Electricity production from thermal power plants fell considerably in 2013 compared with previous years as a result
of the unfavourable circumstances in the energy sector
(low spot market prices for electricity).

2013

20121)

±

±%

Electricity

3,974.2

6,653.8

−2,679.6

−40.3

Heat

5,606.9

7,424.3

−1,817.4

−24.5

9,581.1

14,078.1

−4,497.0

−31.9

Electricity

11,107.5

13,889.4

−2,781.9

−20.0

Gas

19,431.7

28,295.0

−8,863.3

−31.3

Heat

6,636.6

8,365.6

−1,729.0

−20.7

55.1 % Cogeneration

37,175.8

50,550.0

−13,374.2

−26.5

24.0 % Miscellaneous

Total production

Hydropower-generated energy increased in the previous
year as a result of higher volumes from rights to the Inn
power plants.

Distribution in GWh

Total distribution

H E AT P R O D U C T I O N 2 0 1 3

Wassererzeugung
i n p e r c e n t 2013 in %

16.8 %	Thermal waste
incineration

Sales in GWh

4.0 % Biomass

Electricity

9,526.9

12,018.0

−2,491.1

−20.7

Gas

7,792.8

10,732.2

−2,939.4

−27.4

Heat

6,166.8

7,669.7

−1,502.9

−19.6

23,486.5

30,419.9

−6,933.4

−22.8

Total sales

Fully and proportionally consolidated companies
1)

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy
segment relate to five quarters

The change in the balance sheet date and the resulting
presentation of five quarters in the 2012 financial year
significantly distorts comparisons with the prior year.
Due to the unfavourable circumstances prevailing in the
energy sector, the production of electricity particularly in
thermal power plants was considerably lower than in the
prior period – even after being restated to exclude the
fifth quarter.

Heat generation and sales exceeded the previous year’s
level – after being restated to exclude the fifth quarter –
and gas sales developed in a similar vein.
While district heating extraction from co-generation
fell as a result of the decline in power plant utilisation,
electricity generated from peak-load boilers increased
as a result of higher heating requirements due to lower
temperatures.

Highlights
Megawatt Programme

ELECTRICITY PRODUCTION 2013

Stromerzeugung
i n p e r c e n t 2013 in %
75.0 % Thermal power
18.5 % Hydro power
3.3 %	Wind power +
Photovoltaic
3.2 % Forest biomass

As already explained in Section 2, the projects initiated
as part of the Megawatt Programme are conducive to the
strategic and organisational realignment of the Group as
well as to boosting the efficiency and profitability of the
energy segment.
Network tariffs – electricity
The new network tariffs, valid from 1 January 2013, were
the result of the application of the regulation formula.
The network tariffs in the Vienna network area rose by
an average of 9.2 percent, while network loss charges fell
by around 3.5 percent. The increase in system utilisation
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tariffs is primarily attributable to the first-time recognition
of the release of 3/25 of the transitional loss for pension
provisions booked in 2012 under network tariffs and the
effects of investments (investment factor) carried under
the regulatory deferral account.
Network tariffs – gas
With effect from 1 January 2013, Level 3 gas system utilisation charges were increased slightly. Customers paid an
average of 5.6 percent more in system utilisation charges
than in 2012, thereby helping to cover the pension payments to be made by the distribution system operator.
380 kV cable from the Simmering transformer station
to the south-west transformer station
After the building and operational application was
submitted to the Municipal Department 64 (MA 64 –
Rechtliche Bau-, Energie-, Eisenbahn- und Luftfahrtangelegenheiten) in line with the relevant provincial legislation
(Wiener Starkstromwegegesetz), a hearing was held on
7 January 2013. No objections were raised to the project.
At the request of the Vienna Ombuds Office for Environmental Protection (WUA), an environmental officer
was called upon to assess the impact of electromagnetic
fields on the population through this project. The authorities based their decision on the findings of the environmental officer, Prof. Silny, and approved the building and
operational application in line with provincial legislation
(Wiener Starkstromwegegesetz), which became legally
binding on 8 January 2014.
Approval was also granted by the environmental protection authorities to building the power lines on 4 March
2013 following an application to build the 380-kV cable
submitted to the Municipal Department 22 (MA 22 –
Umweltschutz) in line with the relevant provincial environmental protection legislation (Wiener Naturschutzgesetz).

Smart Campus (Wiener Netze head office)
Wiener Netze has set up a new head office to the south
of the existing location at Erdbergstrasse 236 in Vienna’s
11th District. Since August 2013, work on excavating and
securing the foundations, and removing the excavated
material, has been under way and performed by ARGE
Baugrube Smart Campus. Over 30 percent of the material
excavated from the ground was taken away by rail.
The design planning phase by the general contractor
Holzbauer & Partner, who was selected in an EU-wide
general contractor competition, has been completed.
Furthermore, the documents for the general contractor
services to build the Smart Campus head office were
published in October 2013. The first inspection of the
submitted documents has also been completed already.
Operating permits and planning permission have been
granted by the competent authorities by means of an
official notice.
The centralisation of the previously separated areas of
electricity, gas and district heating networks at the Smart
Campus will shorten journeys, facilitate communication and simplify processes. In order for Wiener Netze
to make optimum use of the building and the site as a
whole, the users continue to be closely involved in planning processes .

Business development
As has been mentioned above, the figures reported for
the energy segment in 2012 contain the results of five
quarters due to the change in this segment’s balance
sheet date. The comparability of the figures with those of
the prior year is therefore limited.
F I N A N C I A L R E S U LT S
in EUR million

Smart metering – preparation work
The Smart metering – preparation work project is currently in the closing phase. The pilot studies and field
tests are being continued for electricity and gas. In
the Wiener Netze Metering (WNM) programme, work
is primarily focused on consolidating key systems and
processes for electricity and gas. At the same time, the
joint pilot projects and field tests to obtain information
for the roll-out and work on an integrated business case
are being continued.

2013

20121)

±

±%

2,430.4

3,178.7

−748.3

−23.5

1,437.8

1,897.2

−459.4

−24.2

Gas sales

471.7

558.7

−87.0

−15.6

Heat sales

520.9

722.8

−201.9

−27.9

−259.7

−692.0

432.3

62.5

Turnover
Electricity sales

EBIT
Financial result
EBT
Profit / loss for the year

26.3

−16.3

42.6

n.a.

−233.4

−708.3

474.9

67.0

−236.9

−710.8

473.9

−66.7

23

Annual Report 2013 Consolidated Management Report

2013

20121)

±

±%

Investments
in intangible assets

13.0

13.0

0.0

0.0

Investments
in tangible assets

358.2

440.1

−81.9

−18.6

Investments
in financial assets

17.0

79.2

−62.2

−78.6

Total investment

388.2

532.3

−144.1

−27.1

1)

Due to the change in balance sheet date, 2012 includes five quarters.



Differences as a result of rounding figures have not been eliminated

Turnover
By far the largest proportion of the turnover of the
Wiener Stadtwerke Group is generated by the energy
segment. Electricity and heat sales were on par with the
level of the previous year (after being restated to exclude
the fifth quarter), while gas sales performed much better.
Result on ordinary activities (EBT)
The negative result is primarily attributable to valuation
measures relating to the thermal power station plant as
well as the creation of a provision for impending losses
relating to power supply rights.

The transport segment consists of the Wiener Linien
division and the Wiener Lokalbahnen Group. Due to their
relative scales, the development of the business of these
two divisions is presented here separately.
Wiener Linien GmbH & Co KG is the leading universal
provider of mobility services in and for Vienna, and acts
as a direct point of contact for the City of Vienna in all
local public transportation matters. In addition to the
operation of underground, tram and bus lines, Wiener
Linien undertakes all tasks associated with traffic management such as the planning of operating times and
intervals, route and stop planning for all transport carriers
as well as marketing, sales and public transport controlling. The Wiener Lokalbahnen Group is the operator
of a twin-track railway line between Vienna and Baden.
Within the city limits, the infrastructure of Wiener Linien
is also used. This division also operates three of its own
bus lines, whereby the licenses of the Verkehrsverbund
Ost Region (VOR) are made available at a charge. Furthermore, the Wiener Lokalbahnen Group is active as
a Europe-wide operator of rail cargo and a provider of
transport services for the disabled.

Legal framework conditions
The financial result improved as a result of the decline in
the recognised value of shares in EconGas and Verbund
in 2012.
Investments
The energy segment invested a total of EUR 388.2
million during the financial year. Investments in tangible
assets fell by 18.6 percent, compared to the prior year,
to EUR 358.2 million. This is primarily the result of five
quarters being considered in the prior year. The 78.6 percent decline in investments in financial assets to EUR 17.0
million (prior year: EUR 79.2 million) was primarily attributable to lendings to companies in which Wien Energie
holds shares in the prior year.

Transport segment
Transport segment

The employee regulations for railway operations were
completed in 2013 and submitted to the authorities.
In addition to this, the legal – and in particular liability – framework conditions for accessing railways were
redrafted by external parties.

Local passenger services
Transport services for the disabled
Rail cargo
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At the end of 2012, the European Commission announced
changes in the EU regulation on public passenger
transport services by rail and by road (REGULATION (EC)
No. 1370/2007) as part of the Fourth Railway Package and
the Aid Package. The result of these changes to many
parts of the regulation will have a negative impact on
Wiener Linien. Consequently, Wiener Linien GmbH & Co
KG has delivered an opinion to the appropriate offices
and institutions. The progress of the EU’s Fourth Railway
Package is being closely monitored and the interests of
Wiener Linien GmbH & Co KG safeguarded.

Development of the modal split
As in the prior year, the proportion of total journeys in
Vienna made using public transport came to 39 percent.
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This means that the city continues to occupy a leading
position compared with other large European cities. In
2013, the City of Vienna published its urban development
plan, which also includes urban transportation concepts
and in which the following objectives are set:
zz Increasing the share of public transport to 40 percent
zz Reducing the share of individual motorised traffic to

20 percent

cent) to around 582,000. This figure includes around
146,000 annual season tickets for pensioners.
Passenger kilometres transported
Wiener Linien provided around 18,859.1 million passenger
kilometres transported in 2013 (2012: 18,390.3 million). Of
these, approximately 16,174.6 million related to rail-based
means of transport (2012: 15,958.6 million).

zz Increasing the share of pedestrians and cyclists to a

Passenger transport fleet

total of 40 percent

Number

Key performance indicators
Passenger numbers
in million

2013

2012

±

±%

Wiener Linien

900.0

906.6

−6.6

−0.7

11.9

12.4

−0.5

−4.0

911.9

919.4

−7.5

−0.8

Wiener Lokalbahnen
Total
Passenger kilometres
transported in million
Wiener Linien
Wiener Lokalbahnen
Total

2013

2012

±

±%

Tram drive units WL
of which ULF

525
269

516
245

9
24

1.7
9.8

Tram trailer units WL

219

230

−11

−4.8

Total WL trams

744

746

−2

−0.3

41
14

43
14

−2
0

−4.7
0.0

Underground units for U6 line

124

124

0

0.0

Underground units for lines
U1 to U4

734

722

12

1.7

1,643

1,635

8

0.5

469

466

3

0.6

Buses WLB Group
of which ULF

24
17

23
16

1
1

4.3
6.3

Minibuses (9-seater)
WLB Group

93

99

−6

−6.1

Group coaches WLB

5

5

0

0.0

591

596

−5

−0.8

Trams of WLB Group
of which ULF

Total rail-bound units
18,859.1

18,390.3

468.8

2.5

524.7

526.0

−1.3

−0.2

19,383.8

18,916.3

467.5

2.5

Passengers

Buses (ULF) WL

Total vehicle fleet

Wiener Linien saw 2013 passenger numbers fall by seven
million to 900 million in a year-on-year comparison. This
was mainly due to changes in the mobility behaviour of its
customers. However, passenger numbers are expected
to rise again in 2014 as a result of more and improved
services.

The installation of new electric door-mounted sensors
was completed on ULF B trams and on the drive units
of Type T1 underground trains in 2013. Work to fit new
electric door-mounted sensors will continue on ULF A
trams in 2014.

DEVELOPMENT OF ANNUAL SEASON TICKETS
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013

A total of seven Type ULF A1 and 17 Type ULF B1 trams
were taken into service during the financial year. Furthermore, five new Type V underground trains were
commissioned.

345,508
355,838
373,000
500,936
582,114

The number of annual season ticket holders rose compared to the prior year by approximately 81,000 (16.2 per-

In the financial year, 23 new diesel-powered low-floor
articulated buses (Type Mercedes Citaro) were commissioned for bus services, as well as nine new battery-powered buses. A total of 217 additional Mercedes Citaro
buses are set to be commissioned in the coming years,
setting a new standard in Wiener Linien’s fleet of buses.
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The vehicles comply with the EURO 6 emission standard,
are air-conditioned, fitted with CCTV and represent a
significant improvement in passenger comfort, not least
because of the lower level of noise produced.
Wiener Lokalbahnen Verkehrsdienste GmbH, which provides transportation with cars and minibuses for disabled
people on behalf of private and public-sector customers
as part of its vehicle rental licence, reduced its fleet of
vehicles in response to shrinking demand.
Freight traffic
In 2013, a total of 4,162 international freight trains (2012:
4,637) with 3.21 million (2012: 3.29 million) tonnes of
freight were handled. The drop-off and pick-up areas
include, among others, the ports of Hamburg, Bremerhaven, Koper and Duisburg.

Highlights
Tariff adjustments
Given that the number of passengers has risen steadily
over the past few years and Wiener Linien would like
to ensure its usual level of quality, some of its tariffs
were increased as of 1 July 2013. These increases had
no impact on more than 60 percent of its customers, as
the prices for the most popular types of tickets (annual
season tickets, senior citizen annual season tickets,
student tickets and youth season tickets [Top-Jugendticket]) remained unchanged. The prices of single
tickets, monthly tickets, weekly tickets and travelcards
were increased slightly, and fare dodging became more
expensive. Tickets for short journeys were abolished.
Klangmarketing project
As part of the Klangmarketing project, all of the station
announcements made in trams, bus and lifts, as well
as information announcements by the surface control
centre, were switched to the new corporate voice of
Wiener Linien GmbH & Co KG and the wording changed.
Telephone lines were also updated to include the new
acoustic design. A tender was made for a text-to-speech
system for the control centres, which should ensure that
the corporate voice is used across the whole network
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in the future. Marketing sounds were developed on the
basis of the new acoustic identity for market communication in order to serve additional acoustic contact points.
Overall, the Wiener Linien GmbH & Co KG brand was
strengthened by the deliberate use of acoustic elements,
thereby improving customer communication.
U1 extension to the south
Work officially began on building the tunnel at the future
station of Alaudagasse with the groundbreaking towards
Altes Landgut at the end of 2013. While the primary
construction work was continued between Alaudagasse
and Reumannplatz, the tendering processes were since
completed and contracts awarded for all of the additional
construction sections up to Oberlaa.
U2 extension and tram line 26
With the new 4.2 km-long section of track from Aspernstrasse via the new stations at Hausfeldstrasse and
Aspern-Nord to Seestadt Aspern, the U2 will become
Vienna’s second-longest underground line with 20 stations along nearly 17 kilometres of track.
The tram line 26 travels from Floridsdorf to the Hausfeldstrasse underground station via Kagraner Platz on a new
stretch of track with a length of almost five kilometres.
A large part of the tram’s journey is unimpeded by road
traffic, running on a dedicated set of tracks, a kilometre
of which running on green tracks. The tram is elevated to
cross the Stadlau business park. With a length of 12 kilometres, tram line 26 is one of the longest tram lines in
Vienna.
Closure of Währinger Strasse
In summer 2013, the track systems on Währinger Strasse
between Schottentor and Sensengasse were modernised. Work was conducted at full speed to improve the
foundations of the tracks and to modernise the tracks. In
order to perform the extensive work, tram line services
along this stretch had to be suspended for six weeks and
a replacement bus service introduced in its place.
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Renovation of the Vienna Tram Museum

Turnover

The Vienna Tram Museum is largest of its kind in the
world which is dedicated to documenting the history of
public transport in a single city. The aim of renovating the
historic, listed building is to relaunch it as a public transport museum in 2014.

Despite the tariff adjustments made in July this year, passenger revenue declined slightly as a result of the large
number of people switching from short-term tickets to
the cheaper annual season tickets and less income from
extra charges.

While in the past the museum was only open during the
summer months, the renovation work should make it possible to be open all year round. The focus is to be shifted
from being a simple train depot to being a transport
history museum of an international standard. Different
aspects of the history of local public transportation in
Vienna will be dealt with using 18 subject-based ‘islands’.
There will also be space in the museum for the future of
public transportation and the history of Wiener Linien.
The museum is set to re-open in autumn 2014.

Average revenue per passenger rose marginally by
0.3 percent year-on-year (2013: 52.66 cents; 2012: 52.50
cents).

German operations –
Wiener Lokalbahnen Cargo GmbH
A local office for WLC was opened in the south of Berlin
in 2013 to develop and maintain customer relationships in
Germany.

Result on ordinary activities (EBT)
The decline in the financial result compared to the previous year was primarily the result of lower interest-based
revenues from cash pooling as a result of lower interest
rates and the creation of a provision in connection with
the expiration of a public guarantee obligation in 2015
relating to the US cross-border lease transaction IV.
Taking into account the remaining revenues and
expenses, earnings before tax (EBT) amounted to a loss
of EUR 116.3 million.
I N V E S T M E N T S ( TA N G I B L E A N D I N TA N G I B L E A S S E T S )
2009–2013

Development of business – Wiener Linien

in EUR million
2009

F I N A N C I A L R E S U LT S
in EUR million

2012

±

±%

2011

474.7

477.2

−2.5

−0.5

2012

−120.3

−128.5

8.2

−6.4

4.0

6.0

−2.0

−32.5

−116.3

−122.5

6.2

−5.1

−116.3

−122.5

6.2

−5.1

5.6

4.2

1.4

33.4

Investments
in tangible assets

414.0

382.7

31.3

8.2

Investments
in financial assets

8.0

7.7

0.3

3.6

Total investment

427.6

394.5

33.1

8.4

Turnover
EBIT
Financial result
EBT
Annual losses
Investments
in intangible assets



2010

2013

Differences as a result of rounding figures have not been eliminated

2013

355

227

411

259
296

131
156
163

387
420

    Investments (excl. financial assets)
    of which underground network expansion

Investments
Around 39 percent of total investment (excluding financial
investments) related to the expansion of the underground
network (EUR 163 million). Moreover, EUR 53 million was
spent on the purchase of ultra-low floor trams (ULF),
EUR 48 million on the acquisition of Type V underground trains, EUR 15 million for Type T1 underground
trains, EUR 48 million to upgrade the main workshops in
Simmering and EUR 31 million to extend the lines 25, 26
and D.

27

Annual Report 2013 Consolidated Management Report

Funerals and cemeteries segment

Development of business –
Wiener Lokalbahnen Group

Funerals and cemeteries segment
F I N A N C I A L R E S U LT S

Funeral services
Cemeteries

in EUR million

2013

2012

±

±%

96.1

94.2

1.9

2.1

1.3

2.5

−1.2

−47.5

−0.1

2.0

−2.1

−103.5

EBT

1.2

4.5

−3.3

−72.4

Annual net result

1.2

4.4

−3.2

−72.4

Investments
in intangible assets

Turnover
EBIT
Financial result

0.4

0.1

0.3

283.7

Investments
in tangible assets

10.3

23.5

−13.2

−56.2

Investments
in financial assets

0.0

2.0

−2.0

−100.0

Total investment

10.7

25.6

−14.9

−58.3



Differences as a result of rounding figures have not been eliminated

This segment encompasses B&F Wien – Bestattung
und Friedhöfe GmbH as well as the division companies Bestattung Wien GmbH and Friedhöfe Wien
GmbH. Bestattung Wien is the largest company of
its kind in Austria and one of the largest in Europe.
Since being founded in 1907, Bestattung Wien has
performed over two million funerals and organised
repatriations worldwide. Friedhöfe Wien manages 46
cemeteries in the city with more than 525,000 graves.
In addition to this, Friedhöfe Wien GmbH operates
a cemetery gardener and a stonemason workshop.
Vienna’s largest and Europe’s second largest cemetery, Vienna Central Cemetery (Wiener Zentralfriedhof) covers an area of around 2.5 million square
metres.

Turnover

External factors
The increase in turnover is mainly accounted for by higher
revenues from freight services. This was offset to a certain extent by lower income from the transportation of
disabled people and school bus services.
Result on ordinary activities (EBT)
The decline in earnings before tax is attributable to
losses on end-to-end ticketing for rail passengers, lower
profit contributions from the transportation of goods, and
the negative result from the division handling the transportation of disabled people and school bus services.
The financial result fell short of the previous year’s level as
the latter included one-off proceeds from the disposal of
the share in WLBB.
Investments
Investments in intangible assets mainly related to software licences, particularly in connection with the introduction of SAP HCM. Investments in tangible assets
included renovation and new construction projects relating to stops and track systems. The year-on-year decline
is the result of the acquisition of four traction units for
passenger transport and one traction unit for goods
transport in 2012 which was not repeated in 2013.
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The management of cemeteries and funerals is
hardly affected by developments in a wider economic context. Business development is dependent
on mortality rates and the number of competitors.
The willingness to renew tenures for burials is also of
significance in the cemeteries business. One negative
effect, however, is the long-term decline in the significance attached to dealing with death.
Customer strategy
The main focus here is on dependability with regard
to the performance of services, optimally satisfying
customer needs and reverent behaviour vis-a-vis customers during a sensitive time.
The aim of the one-stop-shop principle applied here
is to relieve relatives of as many arduous tasks associated with a death as possible. The aim is also to meet
the increasingly individual wishes of customers. This
involves both more intensive advisory services and a
wider range of offers.
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The options offered by Bestattung Wien range from
services before death (e.g. insurance / provisions) to
those after death (after-care for surviving relatives). In
this area, the company also offers mourning seminars
for relatives.
Representatives of B&F Wien – Bestattung und
Friedhöfe GmbH and Friedhöfe Wien GmbH can
be found in high-ranking positions in international
institutions (EFFS – European Federation of Funeral
Services and ASCE – Association of Significant
Cemeteries in Europe). The EFFS is also based at the
head office of B&F Wien – Bestattung und Friedhöfe
GmbH.

Development of mortality statistics

Cemetery services
There was a slight decrease in coffin interments and
extensions of burial tenures in 2013, while urn interments
edged up slightly.

Highlights
Building activities
Following the successful move of Group division companies to the newly built head office in 2012, an operational
building was completed in 2013 which is located on a
plot of land adjacent to the head office. This building will
house the operational teams of Bestattung Wien GmbH,
Sarglogistik Wien GmbH and a number of offices of
B&F Wien – Bestattung und Friedhöfe GmbH.

According to the preliminary statistics released by Statistics Austria, the mortality rate in Vienna in 2013 remained
on a par with the previous year. In the months January to
December 2012, a total of 15,657 deaths were reported.
The same period in 2013 saw a total of 15,592, or 0.42 percent fewer, deaths.

Another building project is the new construction of the
museum, which will be located in an existing building
under Mortuary 2 at the Vienna Central Cemetery. The
necessary renovation and adaptation work has already
begun. The plan is to take it into service in autumn 2014.

Key performance indicators

Legal action against ‘Vereinigung der
Friedhofsgärnter’

2013

2012

±

±%

19,071

19,126

−55

−0.3

Burials

7,773

8,090

−317

−3.9

Cremations

3,155

3,064

91

3.0

379

347

32

9.2

Funeral services

Repatriations

The legal action taken by Bestattung Wien against the
‘Vereinigung der Friedhofsgärnter’ association was
ended in spring 2013. The ruling of the Vienna Commercial Court confirmed that it is permissible for Bestattung
Wien to sell flowers during a funeral.
New collective employment agreement

Cemetery services
Coffin internments

9,641

9,989

−348

−3.5

Urn internments

3,633

3,617

16

0.4

Plot extensions

32,313

32,652

−339

−1.0

Funeral services
The numbers of burials and cremations performed by
Bestattung Wien declined slightly in 2013. A trend can
be observed in the preference of customers to choose
cremation over burials.

Negotiations on the collective employment agreement
were successfully concluded in spring 2013. This meant
that the new collective employment agreement for the
funerals and cemeteries segment came into effect as
of 1 July 2013. At the same time, the previous system of
supplements for employees assigned by the Municipal
Department of the City of Vienna was overhauled.
Amendments to the Vienna Death and Funeral Act
(Wiener Leichen- und Bestattungsgesetz – WLBG)
Amendments to the Vienna Death and Funeral Act
(WLBG) were announced on 15 April 2013. The amendments included the liberalisation of urn interments. In
addition, it permits a small symbolic amount of ash from
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the body to be taken for use in lockets, jewellery, and
similar items.

to keep an eye on things. It was possible to obtain the
services of another Group division company, WIPARK, to
operate this. Other cemeteries will follow suit.

Opening of a branch in Penzing
Bestattung Wien ceremoniously opened its new customer service office in Penzing on 29 October. The
district councillor Andrea Kalchbrenner was present,
together with representatives of religious communities and cooperation partners, among others. The new
branch is located new the Baumgarten cemetery and has
a showroom where coffins and urns are on display.

Business development
F I N A N C I A L R E S U LT S
in EUR million

2013

2012

±

±%

70.4

70.4

0.0

0.0

EBIT

0.7

−26.1

26.8

102.5

Financial result

2.7

0.9

1.8

200.7

EBT

3.4

−25.2

28.6

n.a.

Profit / loss for the year

3.4

−25.2

28.6

113.6

Investments
in intangible assets

0.4

0.4

0.0

−0.6

Investments
in tangible assets

15.4

4.3

11.1

n.a.

Investments
in financial assets

15.5

13.0

2.5

19.4

Total investment

31.4

17.8

13.6

76.1

Turnover

Introduction of new products
During a press conference for All Saints’ Day, two new
services of Bestattung Wien were presented. From now
on, relatives are able to set up an online book of condolences free of charge on one of the mourning portals
provided by Bestattung Wien. Another new service takes
the form of a ‘Lebensrückblick’ (a look back at the life
of …). During the funeral service, a personalised look
back at the life of the deceased can be presented on two
large monitors.
Garden of urns



A garden of urns was opened by Friedhöfe Wien in the
inner courtyard of the Simmering crematorium. This
communal burial site resembles a park with small squares,
benches and a water basin. Urns can be interred beneath
flower bushes. Relatives do not need to look after the
graves as this is covered by the flat fee for the grave.
The garden of urns is an additional possibility to bury
people close to nature, in addition to the tree, bush and
lawn graves, as well as the forest cemetery at the Vienna
Central Cemetery.

Turnover

Barrier systems
Following the pilot test to establish a barrier system with
an access card system at the cemetery crematorium,
which was successfully completed, additional systems
have been introduced to the Hernals and Südwest cemeteries. The barrier system means that porters no longer
have to concentrate solely on monitoring admittance, but
can now also travel around the grounds of the cemetery
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Differences as a result of rounding figures have not been eliminated

The revenues of the funerals and cemeteries segment in
2013 remained unchanged compared with the prior year.
Result on ordinary activities (EBT)
Personnel expenses in 2012 included the retrospective
allocation to pension provisions as a result of the change
to the entry-age normal method pursuant to the Austrian
Commercial Code (UGB) and the cut in real interest rates
to 2.5 percent.
The financial result was higher than in the prior year primarily as a result of income from lendings to and investments in TownTown companies.
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Investments

Highlights

Two hearses were purchased by Bestattung Wien GmbH
and, at Friedhöfe Wien GmbH, the inner courtyard of the
Simmering crematorium was redesigned (the garden of
urns).

Restructuring of the car parks

Car parks segment
Car parks segment

Car parks owned (incl. leased)

The three-year restructuring process in the car parks
segment was brought to a successful end in the past
financial year with the merger of City Parkgaragen
Betriebsges.m.b.H., P.C.C. Parkgaragen Citycenter GmbH
and EKS Garagen GmbH. The mergers were conducted
retroactively to 31 December 2012 and all of the car parks
are now fully integrated into WIPARK GmbH.

Car parks managed

Termination of management contracts
The car parks segment includes all investments in car
park operators. The core of the group is WIPARK Garagen
GmbH. This subsidiary operates the car parks owned by
the Group and also car parks owned by third parties.

External factors
Besides general economic development factors, the
parking habits of customers are also influenced by
broader environmental factors relating to parking facility
management and the tariffs for local public transport
charges.

Key performance indicators
2013
Car parks (owned + leased)
Parking spaces (own + leased)
Car parks managed
Parking spaces managed

2012

40

42

10,430

11,797

20

22

6,134

7,304

The decline in the number of parking spaces is attributable to the fact that it was not possible to fully compensate for the lower number of spaces available following
contract terminations (e.g. Lainz car park) and the sale
of the Graz car park with new acquisitions (e.g. EKS car
parks).

As of 31 January 2013, the service agreement with a subcontractor was terminated, with the effect that WIPARK
now manages its car parking facilities itself. The termination led to a legal dispute which could be brought to
an end in December 2013 by means of a settlement. The
settlement amount to be paid by WIPARK is included
in the liabilities at the balance sheet date; payment was
made in January 2014.
P&R Leopoldau warranty for breach of liability
A contractual agreement was reached with the owners
of P&R Leopoldau regarding the amount to be paid for
the warranty for breach of liability, which was paid in the
second quarter. The difference between this amount and
the provision on the balance sheet was released with a
positive effect on earnings.
Extension of useful lives
The accounting useful life of the car parks was set to 75
years retrospectively with effect from 1 January 2013
following a detailed evaluation and consultations with the
auditors, provided that there was no leasehold contract
with a different term.
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Other events

Investments

The management contracts with the car parks in Grinzing,
Ludo Hartmann Platz, Hofmühlgasse and Klieber-park
were terminated with effect from 28 February 2013, while
the contracts with the Columbusplatz, Columbuscenter
and Rossau expired in December. The lease for the Lainz
car park came to an end in the first quarter. The Graz car
park was sold in the second quarter for amount above its
book value. The Star 22 car park with 305 parking spaces
was taken into service in August 2013.

Investments in 2013 in tangible assets encompass particularly part payments for the Manner and Karee Breiten
see projects. Investments in financial assets relate to the
purchase of shares in EKS Garagen GmbH, which was
then merged with WIPARK Garagen GmbH.

8. Employees
The Group headcount can be broken down as follows:

Business development
F I N A N C I A L R E S U LT S
in EUR million

Turnover
EBIT

2012

±

±%

5,509

5,500

9

0.2

Transport

8,935

8,868

67

0.8

809

839

−30

−3.6

62

56

6

10.4

2013

2012

±

±%

Car parks

17.1

15.4

1.7

11.1

Other segments

385

356

29

8.2

2.8

−1.3

4.1

−315.1

Apprentices

402

409

−7

−1.7

Total Wiener Stadtwerke
Group 1)

16,102

16,028

74

0.5

0.2

−0.9

−461.7

EBT

2.1

−1.1

3.2

−288.4

Annual losses

2.1

−1.2

3.3

−272.2

Investments
in intangible assets

2013

Funerals and cemeteries

−0.7

Financial result

Average in FTE
Energy

1)



0.0

0.0

0.0

n.a.

Investments
in tangible assets

12.2

4.3

7.9

182.7

Investments
in financial assets

0.7

0.2

0.5

266.2

Total investment

12.9

4.5

8.4

186.7

Excluding those on maternity leave and national service
Differences as a result of rounding figures have not been eliminated

Every single day, the just over 16,100 personnel of the
Wiener Stadtwerke Group make a considerable contribution to maintaining the high quality of life enjoyed in
Vienna.
HEADCOUNT



Differences as a result of rounding figures have not been eliminated

Personalstand
in percent
35.1 % Energy

Result on ordinary activities (EBT)

56.9 % Transport
5.2 % Funerals and cemeteries

The increase of EUR 4.1 million in the result on ordinary
activities is mainly attributable to a rise in other operating
income from transfer payments and the sale of obligatory
parking spaces, as well as less depreciation following the
harmonisation of useful lives for Company-owned car
parks. In addition to this, the 2012 result was negatively
impacted by one-off extra items and write-downs.
The financial result reflects the extra interest expense as
a result of higher liabilities.
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2.5 % Others
0.4 % Car parks

The increase in the average headcount compared to the
prior year of 0.5 percent is largely explained by the additional services offered in the transport segment (particularly on the underground and tram network).
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HR motto: “Work together – a Wiener Stadtwerke life
long”
With “Work together – a Wiener Stadtwerke life long”,
Wiener Stadtwerke is pursuing an approach to HR work
revolving around life phases. Working together means
looking ahead to the future together and to create products that address the different phases in the professional
lives of employees and link these to operational requirements in an optimum way.
Personnel development work focused on phases of
professional life
The on-boarding phase applies to all new personnel and
relates not only to ensuring a good start in their careers
at Wiener Stadtwerke but also attracting the most suitable employees by means of excellent recruitment practices and appropriate personnel marketing programmes.
The orientation and establishment phase is one in
which employees are shown and offered specific career
paths. This is followed by the family / career phase which
focuses on family-friendly working conditions, equal
opportunities and optimal development chances. The
best agers have valuable experience which it is important
to retain and share.

Training apprentices
The Group has over 400 trainees and apprentices pursuing qualifications in twelve different professions, making
the Wiener Stadtwerke Group one of the largest providers of traineeships and apprenticeships in Vienna.
Since 2003, Wiener Stadtwerke has even trained more
apprentices than needed in order to help combat youth
unemployment. This relates to between 35 and 50
additional places every year. One aspect of the Group’s
corporate policy is to give young people the opportunity
of a sound education in order to increase their chances
in the job market. A major proportion of the trainees and
apprentices subsequently secure employment with the
Company.
To facilitate equal opportunities, Wiener Stadtwerke
attaches considerable importance to encouraging female
apprentices in manual skilled and technical professions.
For example, every year Wiener Stadtwerke is involved
in the Wiener Töchtertag event, which aims to interest
young women and girls in professions traditionally dominated by men. These efforts are already starting to pay
off.
Personnel development

On-boarding support for new employees
Wiener Stadtwerke offers a comprehensive programme
to support employees starting out in the Company, who
have moved to a different position or returned to work
after a period of absence.
zz Welcome Day event
zz Mentoring programme
zz Hop on, hop off tour

Employees learn more about the Group which surrounds
their ‘own’ company from the outset, building or developing a personal network.
Each and every employee makes a valuable contribution to the Group’s success with their work, knowledge
and expertise. For this reason, it is a wish of Wiener
Stadtwerke to integrate them successfully in the Company and to provide them with all the information they
need to make their start as successful as possible.

The strategic personnel development of the Wiener
Stadtwerke Group involves all steps relating to training, promotion and organisational development. These
are carefully planned, implemented and evaluated by
the Group and/or its subsidiaries and the employees
involved.
The establishment of ideal circumstances enables personnel of all generations at the Wiener Stadtwerke Group
to be offered a pleasant working environment ideally
suited to their personal development.
The work of strategic personnel development is aligned
with the four phases of professional life through which
employees typically pass.
Equality and anti-discrimination
One of the cornerstones of the corporate culture at
Wiener Stadtwerke is the principle of equal rights for
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16,100 dedicated
employees
working for Vienna

Around 16,100 employees at Wiener
Stadtwerke work every day to ensure that
the lights go on, the underground arrives on
time and apartments are warm. Wiener
Stadtwerke places great value on healthy
and satisfied employees as well as their
individual training and professional

development. The aim is to keep valuable expertise within the company, as well as
to open up new opportunities for professional development within the Group.
The results: Wiener Stadtwerke is not only a

key engine for jobs and one of the
largest trainers of apprentices in Austria, but
also guarantees Vienna’s high quality of life.
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everyone. Every form of discrimination of people or
groups within a community lacking a legal basis is
rejected as being unacceptable.
Wiener Stadtwerke actively and energetically tackles
every form of discrimination. People with the same
professional and personal qualifications with regard to
training and personal development, employment conditions and remuneration are treated equally.
Equal treatment of men and women
Wiener Stadtwerke regards the equal treatment of
women and men as an indispensable element of its
corporate culture. This means automatically and regularly taking into account the different situations and
interests of women and men in order to entrench the
principles of gender mainstreaming and, in particular,
equal treatment in the daily working processes of Wiener
Stadtwerke.
Tapping the experience of older employees
Wiener Stadtwerke regards older employees favourably
due to their considerable experience. Various educational, working organisation and health programmes have
been initiated in order to retain these employees in the
Group.
Health and safety
One of Wiener Stadtwerke’s core objectives is to ensure
the health and safety of its employees. The wide range
measures relating to health and safety at work often
greatly exceed statutory requirements.

9. Environment
The principles of sustainability are integrated into, and
taken into account in, the development of the corporate
strategy of the Wiener Stadtwerke Group and its subsidiaries. A key element here is represented by the Group’s
five guiding principles on sustainability in which the underlying objectives of sustainability are defined in detail.
The sustainability programme, which is updated annually
and approved by the Management Board, documents the
objectives and action to be taken by the entire Group.
Clearly structured sustainability management ensures that
all Group entities are involved in the sustainability process. The progress made in terms of specific action points
is evaluated and published every year.
The key environmental aspects addressed by Wiener
Stadtwerke are climate-relevant emissions attributable to
the production of fossil-based sources of energy as well
as the direct and indirect emissions associated with its
own use of electricity, heat and fuels. During the implementation of steps to protect the environment, it is vital
that the energy consumption and emissions of Vienna
are regarded in their entirety. The Wiener Stadtwerke
Group makes a significant contribution to energy efficiency efforts here both in terms of production as well as
in terms of its own fuel usage and that of its customers
(mobility and energy-related advisory services). The environment is protected even more by the ongoing increase
in the production of energy from renewable sources.

In the eyes of Wiener Stadtwerke, this forms part of
its social responsibility. At the same time, Wiener
Stadtwerke firmly believes that healthy and properly protected employees make a significant contribution to the
commercial success of the Company.

Another relevant environmental aspect relates to direct
emissions of primary air pollutants. Low-emission technologies (e.g. relating to calorific power stations, thermal
power plants and waste incineration plants) as well as
the services offered by Wiener Stadtwerke which aim to
reduce emissions (including fine particulate matter and
nitrogen oxides (NOX ) associated with household heating
systems and private motorised transport), play a role in
improving air quality in Vienna.

Because every workplace accident is one too many,
Wiener Stadtwerke has introduced a whole host of safety
procedures. These include the deployment of safety
experts in every Group company, high altitude suitability
tests and road safety training. One result of these efforts
to improve safety that the number of work-related accidents has remained low for many years.

The environmental impacts of dealing with waste materials, the remediation of contaminated sites, the drawing
of water and the discharge and disposal of coolant and
waste water are also relevant. The activities of the Group’s
subsidiaries aimed at reducing the impact on the environment vary depending on the business areas in which they
operate.
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For detailed information on sustainability management
at Wiener Stadtwerke, please refer to the Group’s Sustainability Report (in German) http://www.nachhaltigkeit.
wienerstadtwerke.at.

Energy segment
Wien Energie’s work to protect the environment and the
climate consists primarily of the conservative use of fossil
fuels, the increased use of renewable energies and the
associated reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and air
pollutants. Using co-generation technology to produce
electricity and heat at the same time requires much less
primary energy than if these energy sources are provided
separately. The aim is to achieve additional savings with
the planned increase in use of renewable energy sources
and the further increase in energy efficiency in Vienna’s
energy system.
Wien Energie has set itself the objective of increasing
the share of electricity and heat generated from renewable energy sources to between 30 and 50 percent in
the long term. Several wind, water and photovoltaic
power plant projects are currently at the planning
phase or have been taken into service. The new business and financing models developed in 2012 were
enlarged to increase the use of photovoltaic energy in
the supply area, as this was very well received by the
population. The so-called citizen solar power plants
are financed by citizens themselves acting as investors.
Demand was so high that the solar power plants built
in Vienna up to now were “sold out” in a very short
space of time. The largest solar unit in the city centre
was brought online at the beginning of December 2013,
located at the Wien Mitte train station. Installed on
the roof of the new train station and shopping centre,
1,424 photovoltaic modules generate green electricity over an area of 9,000 m². The system’s output is
356 kilowatt peak, which is enough to supply around
130 households with solar power. Wien Energie also
invests in the energy of the future with municipalities
in Lower Austria, as well as in Vienna. Participation
in the citizen solar power plants in Perchtoldsdorf,
Trumau, Oberwaltersdorf, Bisamberg and the waste
water association Trumau-Schönau was also such that
the projects were sold out in a short space of time.
Additional citizen solar power plants are planned
(www.buergersolarkraftwerk.at).

Wien Energie has developed another business model
to encourage the use of solar energy. Owners of suitable plots of land and roof areas are able to lease or buy
a photovoltaic plant from Wien Energie or to lease this
area to Wien Energie. The electricity produced by the
installations can either then be used by the customers
themselves or fed into the grid. In this way, Wien Energie
intends to achieve a photovoltaic capacity of 70 MWp by
2020.
The increased use of district cooling, which makes it
possible to provide energy-efficient cooling to buildings
is another way that Wien Energie helps to protect the
climate. Environmental management systems have been
and are being introduced to protect the environment
during operations. In contrast to earlier plans however, it
was not possible to complete the introduction of certified
environmental management systems in 2012 as well as
certified quality and safety management systems. The
introduction of certified environmental management
systems has been delayed as a result of the reorganisation measures in the energy segment. By the same token,
the decision has been taken at Wien Energie Gasnetz to
wait to include an energy management part to its management system until it is clear what requirements will
be made by the new energy efficiency law. Nevertheless,
important progress has been made. For instance, the
entire power plant facility in Simmering was successfully
certified according to ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001 in
March 2013. The aim now is to certify this facility according to EMAS (EU environmental management system) by
2014. There are plans to set up or introduce (additional)
management systems in other divisions at Wien Energie
and Wiener Netze. This certification is due to be completed by 2015 at the latest.

Transport segment
Wiener Linien is the leading provider of local public
transport services in Vienna and, in conjunction with the
City of Vienna, is pursuing ambitious targets including
those defined in Climate Protection Programmes (KLiP II
and II) as well as in the Transport Master Plan (2003/2008)
and in the City’s urban development plan. Due to the high
proportion of journeys relying on local public transport
in Vienna’s modal split (39 percent), Wiener Linien play
an important role in climate protection and safeguarding
the city’s good air quality. By continuously expanding the
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range of public transport options available and through
further increases in quality and comfort, the aim is to
increase passenger numbers even further. The aim is to
increase the share of local public transport in Vienna’s
modal split to 40 percent by 2020. The anticipated growth
in Vienna’s population, as well as in the surrounding areas,
represents a major challenge. If the targets relating to
the share of public transport in the modal split are to be
achieved by 2020, this translates into around 140 m
 illion
additional passengers every year for Wiener Linien.
Wiener Linien’s response to this is to increase its range
of services and to introduce energy efficiency measures
for vehicles and buildings. The expectation is that almost
four million kWh can be saved every year through recuperation, ECO upgrades ECO trams and switching to
LED lighting. Moreover, additional potential could be
harnessed by continuing to accelerate and give priority to
(public) surface transport.
With its services, Wiener Lokalbahnen ensures that many
commuters are able to leave their cars outside Vienna and
thereby also helps to protect the environment in Vienna.
Through its management of 60 car parking facilities with
around 18,000 parking spaces, WIPARK plays an important role in relieving the pressure on public parking in
Vienna.
Due to the high proportion of electric-powered transportation (above all electrified rail-based vehicles) and
the use of low-emission drive technologies in buses, local
public transportation in Vienna is characterised by an
excellent environmental balance in terms of energy efficiency and air pollution control, particularly with regard to
fine particulate matter and NOX. Wiener Linien and Wiener Lokalbahnen have set up fully integrated management
systems for the environment, quality and occupational
safety. These management systems are certified according to ISO 14001 (environmental management systems),
EN 13816 (service quality in public passenger transport),
OHSAS 18001 (occupational health and safety management systems) and Article 39 of the Austrian Railways Act
(safety management systems).

Funerals and cemeteries segment
Compared with companies in the energy and transport
segment, the impact of companies in the funerals and
cemeteries segment on the environment is much lower.
Nevertheless, contributions to protecting the environment are made here too.
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The most important environmental aspects relate to
biodiversity (cemeteries) and climate protection. Cemeteries are a retreat for flora and fauna in urban areas.
Vienna’s Central Cemetery is home to wide range of
species including badgers, hamsters, owls and bats. A
range of landscape-related measures were carried out
at the Neustift cemetery to create additional habitats for
animals. For instance, there are dedicated areas tailored
specifically to the needs of bats, reptiles, songbirds, butterflies and the Giant Emperor Moth. We now refer to this
as model cemetery for environmental protection.
Electrical hearses have been in use for many years so as
not to disturb the peace of cemeteries. These are also
energy efficient and produce zero emissions. LED technology has been gradually introduced to mortuaries since
2012, whereby the amount of electricity consumed for
lighting is being reduced. In addition to this, a photo
voltaic system has been installed at the Hietzing cemetery with an output of 5 kWp. The new administrative
building recovers heat from the crematorium and uses a
free cooling system in the summer. B&F Wien GmbH and
Bestattung Wien GmbH have been certified according to
ISO 14001 since 2010.

10. Research and development
Wiener Stadtwerke’s FTI fund was endowed with
EUR 1.2 million in its second year. The fund has been
almost completely utilised by Group division companies
for innovative and trendsetting projects. These range
from innovations in the area of renewable energies to
analyses of public transport users using new data analysis
techniques to then come up with planning criteria.
Under the leadership of Wiener Stadtwerke, the URBEM
doctoral programme (urban energy and mobility system)
was launched in the winter semester 2013/14 as part of the
cooperation between Wiener Stadtwerke and the Vienna
University of Technology. Here Wiener Stadtwerke supports 10 doctoral candidates who will develop energy and
mobility strategies for a Smart City Vienna until 2016.
A key (research) focus of Wiener Stadtwerke since the
establishment of the mobility cluster in 2012 has been
the issue of integrated mobility. A major and internationally acclaimed research project is SMILE. The aim
here is to develop a prototype for an open, multimedia
information, booking and ticketing platform (time frame
03/2012–03/2015). The underlying organisational, legal
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and technical conditions for this are being created in close
cooperation with more than twenty mobility partners. A
broad pilot test will be launched in autumn 2014. Running
parallel to this is the ‘e-mobility on demand’ – Vienna
model region project, which is also subsidised by the
Climate and Energy Fund. This involved e-vehicles and
e-charging stations being deployed where they replace
journeys powered by fossil fuels and ensure mobility
where making journeys on foot, by bike or using public
transport will still not offer reasonable alternatives to
citizens in the future.
The numerous and varied activities of the FTI coordination office set up in 2011 demonstrate that it is becoming
increasingly easier to manage complex innovation issues
and to foster an innovation-friendly environment in the
Group.

ASCR – research company Aspern Smart City
Research
The secure and sustainable supply of energy to Vienna is
one of the most important issues for both Vienna’s population and for the future attractiveness of Vienna as a hub
of economic activity. Questions surrounding the issues of
rising energy needs, cutting CO2 emissions and increasing production from renewable energy sources look for
solutions.
This is what Europe’s most unique research programme
is looking at and which is being implemented in the
Seestadt Aspern development. The company Aspern
Smart City Research GmbH & Co KG (ASCR for short) was
founded in the middle of 2013 by the contracting partners
Wien Energie, Wiener Netze, Siemens, wien3420 and the
Vienna Business Agency.
New technologies and integrated solution approaches
are being used. The main focus is on the issue of energy
efficiency. Energy use should be optimised, with production, distribution, storage and consumption being
precisely coordinated with each other. The main areas of
research here include the intelligent energy management
of buildings, of energy distribution networks as a result of
the increased integration of decentralised energy producers and the involvement of users in the issue of energy
consumption.
ASCR intends to research of all this using newly erected
buildings in the Vienna urban development area of

Aspern. Around EUR 40 million is set to be invested here
until 2018.
Company-internal improvements and development
options are identified systematically. The personnel of
Wien Energie are actively involved in this process and
their efforts are also rewarded.

Energy segment
The development of close-to-the-market solutions is a key
focus of the research activities of Wien Energie. Besides
projects to increase the efficiency of the existing power
station park. Wien Energie is also investigating options
to increase electricity production from renewable energy
sources.
Electromobility is a further key focus of Wien Energie’s
research and development activities. As a member of the
Austrian Mobile Power association, Wien Energie is working alongside other Austrian energy utilities and leading
Austrian technology providers from the fields of vehicle
and system development, infrastructure and research,
on the overall concept of electromobility. The declared
objective of this association is to make electromobility as
user friendly as possible.
Wien Energie has gained valuable experience in the
construction and operation of electric charging stations
as well as the operation of electric-powered vehicles
through a series of pilot projects. This will form the basis
for developing tailor-made business models for various
customer groups. In addition, Wien Energie is making
an important contribution to promoting environmentally
friendly mobility by setting up numerous e-bike charging
stations.

Transport segment
NAVCOM
NAVCOM is a communication system for blind and seriously visually impaired people for them to access information from the public transport vehicle. The research
project NAVCOM (a cooperation between Wiener Linien,
Graz University of Technology, Austrian Association
for Blind and Visually Impaired People (ÖBSV) and the
Joanneum University of Applied Sciences) deals with communication between public transport vehicles and mobile
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end devices. A barrier-free smartphone application will
make it possible for visually impaired people in particular
to access public transport information directly from the
vehicle.
Green tracks
It is often difficult to put railway infrastructure projects out
to tender due to a lack of regulations governing environmental criteria to be fulfilled. As result, indicators to
evaluate the impact on the environment are developed
in the project and subjected to an initial practical test by
constructing a new stretch of green tracks along part of
the extension to the tram line 26.

11. Internal control and risk
management system
At the Wiener Stadtwerke Group, a comprehensive risk
management system has been introduced which enables opportunities and risks to be identified at an early
stage. Risks and opportunities are defined as the possibility of negative and positive deviations from expected
outcomes.
The risk management process which follows the internationally recognised principles of COSO (Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission)
has been continuously developed over the past years. The
ongoing identification, recording and assessment of the
risks faced by all Group companies form the basis for the
regular risk reports. In order to enable closer consideration of the most important issues in the risk management
system, a risk and opportunities review is also carried
out on a yearly basis. In the course of this, the original
assessment of risks and opportunities in recent years are
compared with the actual outcomes. The findings are subsequently used to further develop the risk management
system.
The discussion and coordination of the most important
opportunities and risks is also included in the annual business planning meeting of every Group subsidiary The aim
is to discuss, based on a holistic view, which opportunities
and risks can be anticipated in the coming years. Appropriate mitigation steps are subsequently identified and
monitoring intensified in this area.
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A risk controller function, established at every Group
subsidiary, is responsible for ensuring compliance with the
defined risk management process. This position reports
regularly and directly to the relevant general manager.
Group risk management is also responsible and reports to
the Board.
The risk management system of the entire Group was
subjected to an external audit in the past year by the
auditors and tax advisor firm BDO Austria GmbH. The
aim of the audit was to determine the appropriacy and
functionality of the risk management system in place.
The result of the audit is that it is fully functional and the
manner in which processes, activities and checks are carried out corresponds to an appropriate risk management
system.
The risk landscape of Wiener Stadtwerke is broken down
into seven risk groups, with the main risks in the various
risk groups being the following:
Financial risks: considered as part of the treasury
system and asset management
This risk class includes, in particular, those risks associated with short and long-term investments which are mitigated uniformly across the Group by means of a treasury
management system. This system monitors the development of these investments by employing appropriate risk
analysis concepts such as value-at-risk, initiatives risk mitigation action, and also prepares reports for the General
Management. Risks associated with US cross-border
lease transactions are kept under close observation at all
times.
Technical risks: Mitigation by means of regular
maintenance and investment programmes
The absolute reliability of its technical infrastructure is
a major factor for the success of the Wiener Stadtwerke
Group. For this reason, close attention is paid to compliance with high technical standards and carefully defined
maintenance and quality checks. The reliable IT-based
support of business processes is ensured by taking steps
to reach an extremely high level of IT system availability.
In addition, risks are minimised by means of appropriate
insurance policies.
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Price-related risks in terms of primary energy and
electricity: Risk mitigation via hedge transactions
This category of risks covers fluctuations in the prices of
oil, gas and sourced electricity supplies. In the interests
of professional risk management, Wien Energie mitigates
these price risks by engaging in appropriate hedge
transactions, such as derivative financial instruments
covering its source and distribution markets. Forwards,
futures and swaps are used for these purposes. The
development of financial instruments over time is largely
dependent on developments in the relevant commodities markets.
Market risk: Risk mitigation through the development
of new products and services
Market risks include price and competition-based risks in
the area of sales. The Wiener Stadtwerke Group mitigates
these risks by developing new products and services,
through a pro-active, customer-oriented sales policy, and
through a series of partnerships and cooperations.
Environmental risks: Risk mitigation by means of
permanent market monitoring
The relevant political and legal environments are the main
areas in which Wiener Stadtwerke monitors environmental
risks. These are regularly reviewed in order to be able to
identify risks as early as possible and to react accordingly.
Organisational and personnel risks: IPD as risk
mitigation
As a responsible employer, the monitoring of personnel
risks is particularly important for Wiener Stadtwerke.
Therefore, defined personnel risks are evaluated on a
regular basis and compared with a benchmark. Within
the scope of the Group’s integrated personnel development (IPD) concept, various methods are used such as,
for example, employee orientation meetings, which are
intended to mitigate and/or avoid these risks.
Internal control system (ICS)

controlling the efficacy and efficiency of commercial operations, the reliability of financial reporting, and compliance with the legal requirements relevant to the Group.
Wiener Stadtwerke maintains extensive documentation of
rules and processes relevant to the ICS which have been
evaluated by the consultancy firm Ernst & Young. In its
findings report, Ernst & Young established that Wiener
Stadtwerke documents its ICS in a way which is appropriate for a company of its size and complexity. The few
areas for potential improvement identified in the report
have been the focus of ameliorative action.
The entire ICS documentation system now serves as a
basis for ICS internal auditing activities. The aims here are
to ensure that the ICS remains effective, on the one hand,
and to continuously develop the instruments used on the
basis of the audit results, on the other.
At 31 December 2013, the Wiener Stadtwerke Group is
not aware of any risks which, either independently or in
combination with other factors, could represent a risk or
risks to the future existence of the Wiener Stadtwerke
Group.

12. Outlook
The Wiener Stadtwerke Group will continue to operate in
an extremely dynamic business environment in the future.
The challenges associated with this are being actively
tackled by means of a clear corporate strategy. On the
grounds of the persistently difficult circumstances prevailing in the energy sector, the Wiener Stadtwerke Group is
intensifying its efforts relating to increases in efficiency in
order to ensure that the Group continues to stand on a
firm financial footing. By means of the clear prioritisation
assigned to its plans, the intention is to further pursue
important growth and innovation-oriented projects so
that the Group can continue to live up to its claim of thinking in terms of Vienna‘s future.
The most important plans and objectives of the various
Group segments are set out below.

At Wiener Stadtwerke, ICS refers to all action and processes implemented which are aimed at monitoring and
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Energy segment

Electricity network

Production

Modernisation work on the old facilities at the Simmering
and south-west transformer stations is being continued. The project to set up a 380 kV power line between
these two transformer stations is proceeding as planned.
Urgently needed cabling work and the network strengthening project launched in 2001 (e.g. replacing electrical
substations with wooden operator protection) will be
continued in the course of various individual projects.

The main focus here in the 2014 financial year will be on
the further expansion of capacity in the area of renewable
energy, such as citizen solar power plants and additional
photovoltaic projects, wind farms and hydropower plants.
Moreover, the focus of district heating production will be
on optimising the energy efficiency of the Spittelau waste
incineration plant and in the new construction of the district heating plant at Arsenal.
Another focus from 2013 will be on continuing to address
the issue of decentralised production. New innovative
products in the area of decentralised energy sources and
solutions to deal with technological issues will continue to
be a focus for all customers.

The multi-year plan is dominated by the smart metering
projects and the aforementioned network connection
investments for wind turbines.
In order to continue ensuring a high security of supply,
increasing value is being placed on network monitoring
(observable network nodes) and the associated mitigation
and handling of failures accelerated considerably.

Sales
Heat sales are expected to increase further by means of
new customers and market shares. However, a new set
of circumstances in the energy sector combined with an
already dense market coverage means that growth will
not achieve the same dimensions as in recent years.
The work to extend the infrastructure for electromobility
and telecommunications will continue, where the focus of
investment will be on telephones, the Wiener Bildungsnetz, (a network available to schools and educational
facilities) and dark fibre networks.
The balanced customer base in the Greater Vienna metropolitan area, serving as the home and growth market,
combined with a high degree of customer satisfaction,
continue to be the most important success factors that
need to be safeguarded.
Distribution
Networks require constant investments in order to
safeguard the existing high degree of reliability. This task
present system operators with considerable challenges
in an existing regulatory environment. Furthermore, work
is continuing on constructing the new, shared corporate
headquarters of Wiener Netze (Smart Campus).
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The network concept up to now has been based on large,
centralised power plants that feed the energy they produce into the high-voltage grid and which is distributed to
grid customers via the transmission and distribution networks. However, the issue of smart grids will have a major
impact on the network concept. Decentralised energy
network feeders (e.g. wind power and photovoltaics) play
a significant role here. In order to achieve European and
political objectives and in order to enable innovative,
technical developments and additional improvements to
efficiency, so-called ‘intelligent networks’ are required
that ensure an efficient, sustainable energy system with
low losses and a high degree of supply quality and
security. Managing these energy systems presents a new
set of technical challenges for the current transmission
and distribution network in respect of network stability,
energy compensation and storage, as well as information and communication technology. End customers are
actively involved in load management which also requires
intelligent measuring systems.
Gas network
The coming years will be marked by the continued work
to implement the repairs strategy for the distribution
network (to begin with) with an eye on safety and security.
In addition to this, it will be aligned with commercial perspectives and external influencing factors by optimising
the deployment of human resources. Other requirements
of a repairs strategy include strategic long-term planning
in which supply targets and strategic alignment of grid
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operations play a role in determining the long-term need
for rehabilitation.
As a result of this, at least one gas pressure regulator
station is updated to the latest technological standards
in addition to the annual upgrade of the distribution
network (mains lines and building connection lines). This
relates to stations with a condition that causes safety
concerns or which generates excessively high inspection
and outage costs.

along this stretch will have to be suspended for four
months. The section between Margaretengürtel and
Kettenbrückengasse will follow in July and August 2017.
A carefully planned replacement bus service will be put
in place for both partial closures so as to keep the level
of inconvenience to passengers and residents as low as
possible.

Development of turnover, earnings and investment
activity

While it is already possible on other underground lines to
simply travel around disruptions by changing tracks, this
option has only been available to a limited extent so far
between Hütteldorf and Hietzing. This means that even
small disruptions can have a major impact on the line’s
operations. Installing new track connections makes it possible to change tracks, e.g. during rescue operations, and
thereby improves the reliability of the U4.

In view rising costs for material, personnel and depreciation, due in part to the full-year effects of increasing the
range of services offered, earnings are expected to be
lower than in 2013.

The final steps in the modernisation of the U4 will be
implemented between now and 2020. During this phase,
the work carried out will have little impact on normal U4
operations.

Investments of around EUR 428 million are planned for
2014, of which approximately EUR 186 million are associated with the expansion of the underground network.
Additional focuses of investment activity include the
construction of the main workshops in Simmering, the
replacement of various tram units, the procurement of
buses and underground trains (Type V and Type T1) and
the modernisation of the U4.

U6 – complete renovation

Transport segment

This project involves the complete renovation of the U6
stations Alser Strasse, Währinger Strasse and Nussdorfer
Strasse. A feasibility study was carried out for the complete renovation of these stations and an in-depth inspection of the building at Alser Strasse has already been
organised. The necessary planning work has already been
commissioned and the first phase of tenders completed.

U4 modernisation
U1 – southbound extension
Following the replacement of signal boxes, the U4 will
continue to be modernised with the renovation of tracks,
track foundations, stations and tunnel ceilings. Additional
track connections will make it possible to change tracks in
the event of disruptions, helping to improve the reliability
of operations.
Work will begin in spring 2014 with the renovation of the
supporting wall situated between the U4 line and the
street. At the same time, Wiener Linien will begin with
renovation of the old relay signal boxes at Hütteldorf and
Meidling Hauptstrasse. A necessary step in order to be
able to operate the track connections which will then be
installed.
Tracks and track foundations between Hütteldorf and
Schönbrunn/Hietzing will be modernised between May
and September 2016. This means that U4 operations

In the Alaudagasse area, the U1 is being built in such a
way that would make it technically possible to branch out
to Rothneusiedl in several years. Tram line 67 has been
adjusted accordingly to fit around the work and the new
U1 extension once it has been finished. After completion
of the extension work, the U1 will cover an additional
4.6 km and include five new stations (Troststrasse – Altes
Landgut – Alaudagasse – Neulaa – Oberlaa). In 2017, the
U1 will then become Vienna’s longest underground at
19.2 km.
New mobility card and annual season ticket
A new mobility card will be introduced as of 1 January
2015, which will combine a range of transportation services into one card. With the new mobility card, you will
be able to combine and use different modes of trans-
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port at a low price (car parks, public transport and city
bikes – all with one card). Additional services are set to
be included in the coming years, in particular car sharing. The Vienna mobility card will cost EUR 377.00 per
year – one euro more a month than the annual season
ticket.

Furthermore, measures currently being implemented in
the organisational and operational areas of the Group
division will be continued and moved forward in 2014 in
line with the applicable strategic alignment.

Car parks segment
At the same time that the mobility card is introduced,
the annual season ticket will also be redesigned to take
the form of a plastic card with a digitalised photo, the
aim of which is also to protect against forgeries. The
newly designed ticket will be successively issued to all
annual ticket holders from the beginning of 2015.
Vehicle fleet
The modernisation of the Wiener Linien fleet is continuing
on schedule in 2014. Deliveries of four new underground
trains (Type V) are expected. The 20 new Type T1 traction
units will be taken into service on the U6 line in order to
reduce intervals.
A further 20 ULF A1 units are also to be delivered as part
of the ongoing replacement of old tram units by modern
ultra-low-floor trams. A tender was launched to acquire
additional low-floor vehicles. This involves a two-phase
approach, whereby in the first phase a search was conducted for bidders. Following a selection process, the
remaining bidders will then be invited to make an offer.
The plan is to place an order for approximately 156 vehicles in the second half of 2014. Delivery of the first set of
vehicles is expected in 2018.
Moreover, the order will include an additional 34 articulated buses, 23 normal buses and 6 hybrid normal buses
which should replace the generation of CNG buses. All of
the new vehicles will be fitted with air-conditioning units.

Funerals and cemeteries segment
It can be assumed the scope of the business activities of
the Group division (i.e. the number of interments, burial
extensions) will remain fairly constant on the basis of the
planning and forecast data available and in view of the
principles of commercial prudence.
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In the 2014 and 2015 financial years, the plan is to taken
into service the car park projects at the Baumgarten
geriatric centre, Manner, Karee Breitensee and the Vienna
Main Railway Station, together with four car parks at
Seestadt Aspern with a total of more than 2,000 parking spaces. Furthermore, Wipark will continue to work
to increase its capacities through the acquisition of new
lease and management contracts. In order for customer
processes to be handled more quickly, the control centre
will also be technologically modernised.

Earnings position of the Wiener Stadtwerke
Group
The earnings of the Wiener Stadtwerke Group were
severely impacted by valuation measures – above all
due to impairment charges taken again gas-fired power
stations. The result before valuation measures was clearly
positive. The Group aims to achieve a balance result in
2014 in view of the unfavourable prevailing circumstances
and electricity spot market prices which have since
fallen even further. The additional steps to cut costs and
improve efficiency will begin to show early signs of success; the full of effect of these, however, will only become
apparent in subsequent years.

Investment programme of the Wiener Stadtwerke
Group
In the 2014 financial year, the Wiener Stadtwerke Group
plans to invest a total of approximately EUR 1,021.2
million, of which around 952.0 million will be in tangible
assets.
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I N V E S T M E N T S I N TA N G I B L E A S S E T S

Investitionen
i n p e r c e nint Sachanlagen
51.6 % Energy segment
45.7 % Transport segment
1.9 % Car parks segment
0.5 %	Funerals and cemeteries
segment
0.2 % Others

Differences as a result of rounding figures have not been eliminated

The largest investment projects include, among others:
zz Energy segment: Smart metering and the Smart

Campus, investments in the electricity and gas networks, the expansion of the district heating network,
optimising the energy efficiency of the waste incineration plant at Spittelau and additions to the electricity
generation portfolio in the area of renewable energy
sources.
zz Transport segment: Tramway services (procurement
of ULF units) and underground services (procurement
of new underground trains (Type V and T1), underground network extension work (U1 and U2), procurement of buses and upgrading the main workshops in
Simmering.

Funding for the planned investments is secured, on the
one hand, mainly by the consistently positive operational cash flows in the energy sector and, on the
other, by ticket sales and public grants in the transport segment. Furthermore, the ability of the Wiener
Stadtwerke Group to raise external funding on the
capital market demonstrated that the Group has been
able to position itself as a borrower with a high credit
rating and credibility. Overall, the financial position of
the Wiener Stadtwerke Group can be considered to be
stable.
Based on the abovementioned strategic objectives of the
various segments, the Wiener Stadtwerke Group will further consolidate its position as one of the most important
infrastructure providers in Austria. The top priority here
is to actively exploit growth opportunities in all of the
Group’s business areas and to ensure a steady increase
in enterprise value as the means of safeguarding the high
quality of the services provided in future in the interests
of customers.

13. Events after the balance sheet date
No events of any note occurred since the balance sheet
date which would have had a material impact on the
asset, financial or earnings position detailed in these
statements.

Vienna, 20 March 2014
THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
Martin Krajcsir
Gabriele Domschitz
Marc H. Hall
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Development
and expansion
of renewable
energies

Wiener Stadtwerke intends to produce
30–50 percent of its energy from renewable
sources by 2030. In order to achieve this,
particular emphasis is being placed on

innovative solutions. We are also
investing hundreds of millions of euro in the
functionality of the entire supply system.
The increased use of renewable sources of
energy also brings with it storage options
and high efficiency in terms of consumption.
A successful example is the heat storage

facility in Simmering, Vienna. This is the
first of its kind in the world and makes it
possible for heat to be used when it is
actually required – irrespective of the time it
is produced.

Consolidated
Financial Statements
for the 2013 financial year
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2013, in EUR

ASSETS

Notes

31.12.2013

31.12.2012

A. FIXED ASSETS

(1)

I. Intangible assets

(2)

156.892.227

156.049.813

II. Tangible assets

(3)

9.483.900.100

9.467.884.519

III. Financial assets

(4)

Total fixed assets

2.345.101.753

2.337.394.649

11.985.894.079

11.961.328.981

B. CURRENT ASSETS

(5)

I. Inventories

(6)

131.196.460

124.098.139

II. Receivables and other assets

(7)

617.413.296

646.099.976

0

0

III. Securities and shareholdings
IV. Cash in hand, cheques and cash in bank
Total current assets
C. PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUED INCOME

(8)

Total Assets
Contingent assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY
A. EQUITY

Notes

330.535.019

211.591.769

1.079.144.775

981.789.884

363.233.104

404.727.029

13.428.271.958

13.347.845.894

234.888.596

269.862.307

31.12.2013

31.12.2012

(9)

I. Capital stock

500.000.000

500.000.000

3.661.084.840

3.571.392.826

III. Retained earnings

445.374.605

1.448.691.526

IV. Minority interests

11.884.999

13.629.365

II. Capital reserves

V. Profit / loss for the year
Total shareholder’s equity

0

−788.599.203

4.618.344.444

4.745.114.515

B. PROVISIONS

(10)

3.641.430.514

3.530.226.613

C. LIABILITIES

(11)

1.465.393.787

1.437.809.142

5.106.824.300

4.968.035.755

3.703.103.213

3.634.695.623

13.428.271.958

13.347.845.894

403.502.739

426.284.812

82.429.754

70.347.566

Total borrowed capital
D. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME

(12)

Total Liabilities and Shareholder’s Equity
Other guarantees
Other liabilities

(13)
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013, in EUR
Notes
1. Turnover

(14)

2. Change in inventory of finished and unfinished goods and accrued income
3. Other own work capitalised
4. Other operating income

(15)

2013

2012

3,044,381,949

3,775,784,869

3,077,173

268,125

78,636,467

76,219,484

696,579,138

682,585,572

5. Cost of materials and services

(16)

−1,650,430,230

−2,080,306,462

6. Personnel expenses

(17)

−1,166,641,436

−2,005,048,049

7. Depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible assets

(18)

−787,408,565

−655,135,601

8. Other operating expenses

(19)

−603,915,784

−673,376,022

−385,721,288

−879,008,085

(20)

52,421,444

39,674,721

11. Income from other securities and loans of financial assets

(21)

12,301,496

12,306,254

12. Other interest and similar income

(22)

6,763,060

10,597,479

880,179

2,066,959

9. EBIT
10. Investment income

13. Income from the disposal and write-up of financial assets
14. Income / expenses from investments in associated companies

(23)

1,313,942

−25,314,705

15. Expenses associated with financial assets and available-for-sale securities

(24)

−1,074,165

−53,339,070

16. Interest and similar expenses

−17,466,894

−18,086,740

17. Financial result

55,139,062

−32,095,102

−330,582,226

−911,103,187

18. Result on ordinary activities (EBT)
19. Taxes on income and earnings

(25)

20. Annual losses
21. Minority interests
22. Consolidated net loss for the year

29,932

−318,600

−330,552,294

−911,421,787

−131,495

315,541

−330,683,789

−911,106,246

23. Release of capital reserves

(26)

116,255,787

122,507,043

24. Release of retained earnings

(26)

1,003,027,205

0

25. Loss carryforward
26. Consolidated net loss (accumulated)
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−788,599,203

0

0

−788,599,203
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013, in EUR

1. Profit / loss after taxes
2. Expenses and gains not recognised in income

2013

2012

−330,552,294

−911,421,787

765,320,107

1,341,583,474

3. Reclassifications
4. Operating cash flow before change in working capital
5. Change in working capital
6. Change in operating cash flow (long-term)
7. Cash flow from operating activities
8. Cash flow from investment activities

0

−260,639

434,767,813

429,901,048

−67,267,683

64,144,856

58,008,961

−48,450,686

425,509,091

445,595,218

−512,279,056

−607,655,591

9. Cash flow from financing activities

205,713,215

−90,498,522

10. Change in cash and cash equivalents

118,943,250

−252,558,895

Balance at start of period

211,591,769

464,150,664

Balance at close of period

330,535,019

211,591,769

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013, in TEUR

Capital
stock
Balance at 1.1.2012

500,000

Capital
reserves

Retained
earnings

3,472,874

1,361,371

Carried forward

Profit / loss
for the year

87,108

Balance at 31.12.2012

500,000

Capital
stock
Balance at 1.1.2013

500,000

5,453,267

0
−316

−911,422

−16,653

−16,653

−2,000

−18,653

204

167

685

852

8

8

8
221,063

98,556

0

122,507

221,063

3,571,393

1,448,692

−788,599

4,731,485

Capital
reserves

Retained
earnings

3,571,393

1,448,692

Profit / loss
for the year
−788,599

Carried forward

0

13,629

Minority
interests

Subtotal
4,731,485

13,629

0

Profit/loss for the period
Dividends paid
Change in scope of consolidation
Translation of foreign currency

Total
shareholder‘s
equity
4,745,115
0

−330,684

131

−330,552

0

0

−1,239

−1,239

−140

−637

−777

−150
500,000

4,745,115

−330,684
−140

Changes in reserves
Balance at 31.12.2013

15,260

−911,106

Translation of foreign currency
Changes in reserves

5,438,007

−87,108

Dividends paid
−37

Subtotal

Total
shareholder‘s
equity

−911,106

Profit/loss for the period
Change in scope of consolidation

103,761

Minority
interests

−150

−150

89,692

−1,003,027

1,119,283

205,948

205,948

3,661,085

445,375

0

4,606,459

11,885

4,618,344
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Consolidated Statement of Changes
in Tangible and Intangible Assets
for the 2013 financial year

Cost of
acquisition
01.01.2013

Translation
of foreign
currency
01.01.2013

Additions to
the scope of
consolidation
2013

Additions
2013

Reclassifications
2013

Disposals
2013

I. Intangible assets
1. Licenses, industrial property rights
and similar rights including
associated licenses

567,980,266

0

13,265,805

0

6,101,258

10,270,646

10,311,992

0

0

0

155,492

0

7,433,666

0

6,991,112

0

44,250

−2,509,798

585,725,924

0

20,256,918

0

6,300,999

7,760,848

7,840,142,903

−160,082

130,545,746

9,583,419

79,164,679

270,321,599

12,030,088

0

269,676

0

0

−5,955,162

11,239,978,400

−351,244

271,887,204

0

88,765,500

232,673,882

4. Other equipment, furniture and fixtures

775,560,639

−25

31,643,673

0

12,507,156

17,477,283

5. Prepayments and plant under
construction

802,086,350

0

379,531,154

19,091

507,095

−522,278,450

20,669,798,379

−511,352

813,877,453

9,602,510

180,944,431

−7,760,848

1. Shares in affiliated companies
(not consolidated)

92,998,558

0

1,348,699

0

1,965,727

0

2. Lendings to affiliated companies
(not consolidated)

33,663,199

0

2,224,323

0

4,157,178

0

835,261,477

0

2,028,480

0

3,622,008

−2,012,000

4. Shareholdings in associated companies

44,615,046

0

1,527,394

0

339,236

2,012,000

5. Lendings to companies in which shares
are held

16,869,741

0

10,970,868

0

1,339,082

0

1,417,045,052

0

11,931,711

0

1,029,943

0

88,864,588

0

1,213,560

0

15,027,123

0

2,529,317,661

0

31,245,034

0

27,480,297

0

23,784,841,965

−511,352

865,379,404

9,602,510

214,725,727

0

2. Goodwill
3. Prepayments
Total intangible assets

II. Tangible assets
1. Developed plots of land
2. Undeveloped plots of land
3. Plant and equipment

Total tangible assets

III. Financial assets

3. Shareholdings

6. Non-current financial assets
7. Other Lendings
Total financial assets

Total assets
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Cost of acquisition
31.12.2013

Accumulated
depreciation
31.12.2013

Carrying value
31.12.2013

Carrying value
31.12.2012

Additions to the
scope of
consolidation
2013

Depreciation
and amortisation
2013

Additions
2013

585,415,459

443,358,326

142,057,134

143,972,348

0

0

22,199,623

10,156,500

7,192,137

2,964,363

4,643,799

0

0

1,633,479

11,870,730

0

11,870,730

7,433,666

0

0

0

607,442,690

450,550,463

156,892,227

156,049,813

0

0

23,833,102

8,171,268,906

3,379,944,198

4,791,324,708

4,634,251,715

15,972

0

222,667,555

6,344,602

0

6,344,602

12,030,088

0

0

0

11,655,422,742

7,811,439,643

3,843,983,099

3,843,064,866

0

0

502,976,231

812,174,413

624,862,777

187,311,636

180,263,177

0

0

41,640,035

658,851,050

3,914,994

654,936,056

798,274,673

0

0

−3,708,359

21,304,061,712

11,820,161,612

9,483,900,100

9,467,884,519

15,972

0

763,575,463

92,381,530

20,943,724

71,437,806

70,773,229

0

880,177

22,239

31,730,344

5,867,985

25,862,359

27,795,214

0

0

0

831,655,949

35,670,184

795,985,765

796,994,026

0

0

511,046

47,815,204

40,644,619

7,170,585

3,906,810

0

0

0

26,501,527

688,600

25,812,927

16,181,141

0

0

0

1,427,946,819

78,247,029

1,349,699,791

1,338,798,145

0

0

121

75,051,025

5,918,505

69,132,521

82,946,084

0

0

0

2,533,082,399

187,980,646

2,345,101,753

2,337,394,649

0

880,177

533,406

24,444,586,800

12,458,692,721

11,985,894,079

11,961,328,981

15,972

880,177

787,941,971

53

To the full
satisfaction of
two million
customers

Wiener Stadtwerke provides energy to
around two million people in the
Greater Vienna metropolitan area, transported around 912 million passengers from
A to B, carried 3.2 million tonnes of goods
by rail, heated 330,000 households with
district heating and managed more than half
a million graves. Behind these impressive
figures are the dedication and

commitment of our employees. In the
interests and to the utmost satisfaction of
our customers, as was demonstrated by
numerous surveys conducted in 2013.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
Corporate profile
The Wiener Stadtwerke Group is essentially engaged in
the following business activities:
zz Electricity generation, sales and network operation
zz Gas sales and network operation
zz District heating and cooling generation, sales and
zz
zz
zz
zz
zz
zz
zz
zz
zz
zz
zz
zz
zz

network operation
Energy management
Facility management
Waste management and incineration
Telecommunications
Underground, tram and bus service operations
Transport services for the disabled
Freight traffic
Funeral services
Cemetery maintenance including cemetery nursery
and masonry workshops
Parking facility management
Holding management
Property management and development
Miscellaneous

All of the above activities relate almost exclusively to
the metropolitan area of Vienna and its immediate
surroundings.

General information
Pursuant to Article 244 of the Austrian Business Enterprise Code (UGB), Wiener Stadtwerke Holding AG is
obligated to prepare consolidated financial statements
for the 2013 financial year.
These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Austrian Commercial Code (UGB). The first-time consolidation took place on 1.1.1999 – on which date the affiliated and associated companies of the Group were first
consolidated. All companies consolidated since this point
in time have been consolidated at the point in time of
their respective acquisitions.
The uniform accounting and valuation methods used in
preparing these financial statements are documented in
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a Group Accounting Guideline and a Group Accounting
Manual.
Pursuant to Article 252 of the Austrian Commercial
Code, the balance sheet date of the consolidated
financial statements is that of the parent company. The
financial statements of Group companies either fully
consolidated or consolidated on a pro rata basis were
all, with the exception of the following companies (balance sheet date: 30 September 2013), prepared on the
balance sheet date of the parent company (31 December
2013).
zz ENERGIEALLIANZ Austria GmbH
zz PAMA-GOLS Windkraftanlagenbetriebs GmbH & Co KG

No events of particular note relating to the assets,
financial and earnings positions of the Group occurred
between the balance sheet date of these companies and
that of the Wiener Stadtwerke Group.
WIEN ENERGIE Vertrieb GmbH & Co KG (balance sheet
date: 30.09.) has been taken into account in the consolidated financial statements on the basis of interim financial statements covering the period from the respective
balance sheet date to that of the Group.

Accounting and valuation principles
General principles
The financial statements of all consolidated companies
have been prepared on the basis of uniform accounting
and valuation principles.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the principles of correct
accounting and valuation, and in compliance with general accounting standards, with the aim of providing a
true and fair presentation of the assets, financial and
earnings positions of the Group. The consolidated profit
and loss account has been prepared on the basis of the
nature-of-expense method. These consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the
principle of completeness.
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The assets and liabilities of consolidated subsidiaries
recognised in the Group financial statements have been
uniformly valued, in line with Article 260 of the Austrian
Commercial Code, on the basis of the valuation methods
applied to the consolidated financial statements of the
parent company. The principles of individual valuation
and a going concern have been applied to the valuation
of individual assets and liabilities.
The principle of accounting prudence has been applied,
particularly in that only gains realised on or before the
balance sheet date are reported as such. All identifiable
risks and impending losses existing or incurred either
during the 2013 financial year or in earlier periods have
been taken into account.

Fixed assets
Intangible assets and tangible assets
Intangible and tangible assets are recognised at their
cost of acquisition or manufacture and, where subject
to depreciation or amortisation, are depreciated or
amortised applying the straight line method based on
standard commercial useful lives. Low-value items with
acquisition costs below EUR 400.00 are depreciated fully
in the year of their acquisition.
The amortisation of goodwill is linear and takes account
of the commercial useful life of such assets.
Category

Useful life (in years)

Intangible assets
Licenses, industrial property rights, etc.
Electricity supply rights, energy use
rights

2–40 or contractual term
30–50

Goodwill

5–15

Software

3–5

Division-specific tangible assets
Major construction projects
(e.g. tunnels, concrete channels, etc.)

40–80

Energy supply equipment

15–25

Supply networks
(e.g. power lines, mains etc.)

5–50

Telecommunication networks

10–30

Vehicles (e.g. trams, buses, etc.)

10–30

Other tangible assets
Production and office buildings

10–100

Other technical equipment

2–30

Fixtures, furniture and office equipment

2–30

Additions in the first half of any given financial period
are generally subject to full-year depreciation in the year
of their acquisition, while those acquired in the second
half of any given financial period are subject to half-year
depreciation in the first year.
Unforeseen declines in asset value have been taken into
account by means of impairment charges.
Own work capitalised is calculated on the basis of the
specific costs of manufacture in addition to an appropriate proportion of the production-related material and
manufacturing overheads plus a similar proportion of
occupational pension and voluntary social costs incurred
by the Company. Interest payable on borrowings for the
purposes of financing the manufacture of assets is not
generally capitalised.
Investment grants are recognised as accrued liabilities
and are reversed in line with the depreciation of the relevant assets in connection with which they were granted.
Financial assets
Shares in affiliated companies, in as far as these are
not consolidated, in addition to other shareholdings, are
carried at their cost of acquisition less any impairment
charges.
Shares in associated companies are recognised at valuations based on the equity method. This method applies
the same valuation methods as applied to fully consolidated companies.
Lendings are carried at the lower of their acquisition
costs or cash value on the balance sheet date.
Non-current financial assets are recognised applying
the moderate lower of cost or market principle. Impairment charges are recognised when these are assumed
not to be temporary in nature.
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The revised opinion issued in June 2010 by the Austrian
Financial Reporting and Auditing Committee (AFRAC)
entails significant changes to the valuation of investment
funds in the form of a fund of funds and recognised
as non-current financial assets. In accordance with the
resulting deviation from the modified lower of cost or
market principle and the valuation of these financial
assets more closely on the basis of fair values (strict
lower of cost or market principle), there followed during
the course of the 2010/2011 financial year a far-reaching
restructuring of the Wiener Stadtwerke investment fund
in the interests of establishing an even more conservative portfolio structure. Following this realignment, there
continue to exist five funds (special funds) with the aim of
covering the pension-related obligations and for longterm accumulation purposes (e.g. for investments). The
new strategy as of 2013 entails two mixed investment
fund; one which also includes shares. The remaining three
funds are maintained as bond funds (including money
market assets), whereby two of the three funds are managed according to the buy-and-hold principle.
Since being restructured, this portfolio is characterised
by a significantly lower degree of volatility. During the
course of this restructuring process, the shares in these
funds were exchanged applying the principle of continuance of book values.

Current assets
Inventories are valued at the respective costs of acquisition or manufacture in as far as the underlying values of
these assets are not lower on the balance sheet date, e.g.
due to lower stock exchange or market prices, in which
case these are applied.
Manufacturing costs relate solely to direct costs (of
materials and wages) and the corresponding proportion
of material and manufacturing-related overheads based
on the assumption of operation at full capacity, plus
expenses for voluntary social expenses and occupational
pension fund contributions. Expenses incurred through
general administration work and interest on loans are not
capitalised.
The calculation of costs of acquisition and manufacture
for the same classes of assets applies the weighted average cost method or similar methods. Appropriate impair-
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ment charges are recognised for inventories subject to
risks or of reduced utility.
Receivables and other assets are valued at their respective acquisition costs. Recognisable risks are taken into
account by means of appropriate impairment charges.
Purchased CO2 emission certificates are carried under the
position ‘Other assets’ and are recognised strictly applying the lower of cost or market principle. Certificates
obtained free of charge are not carried in the financial
statements.
Available-for-sale securities are carried at the lower of
their cost of acquisition or market value on the balance
sheet date.

Untaxed reserves
Pursuant to Article 205 of the Austrian Commercial Code
(UGB), untaxed reserves are recognised in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Article 253,
para. 3 UGB.

Provisions
Provisions for severance payments and provisions for
similar obligations
Since the 2012 financial year, the provisions for severance
payments have been calculated applying actuarial principles on the basis of the entry-age normal method and,
due to the current level of interest rates, on the basis of
an interest rate (real interest rate) of 2.5 percent. As in the
prior year, no discount or employee turnover was taken
into account, a retirement age of 65 for both male and
female employees was assumed, and the mortality table
“AVÖ 2008-P Rechnungsgrundlagen für die Pensions
versicherung – Pagler & Pagler” was applied.

Real interest rate

31.12.2013

31.12.2012

2.50 %

2.50 %

The provisions for similar severance payment obligations
are calculated using the same parameters as applied
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to the provisions for severance payments, albeit applying actuarial principles based on the entry-age normal
method in future.

amount due and as not as yet recognised in profit/loss
is carried as a separate position under prepayments and
accrued income.

Provisions for pensions

Provisions for pensions were calculated at 31 December
2013 applying actuarial principles on the basis of the
entry-age normal method as in the prior year. The calculation applied an assumed interest rate of 2.5 percent
(real interest rate) due to the current interest-related environment. As in the prior year, no discount for employee
turnover was taken into account, a retirement age of 65
for both male and female employees was assumed, and
the mortality table “AVÖ 2008-P Rechnungsgrundlagen
für die Pensionsversicherung – Pagler & Pagler” was
applied.

The Vienna Public Enterprises – Allocation Act (Wiener
Stadtwerke – Zuweisungsgesetz), published in the
State Law Gazette (LGBI 17/1999), requires that Wiener
Stadtwerke reimburses the City of Vienna for pension-
related expenses of municipal employees assigned to
work for the Group. This represents a direct obligation
in respect of pension contributions. Pursuant to Article
211, para. 2, of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB), the
Group recognises these direct pension obligations applying the rules relating to the correct accounting of pension
obligations based on the Austrian Financial Reporting
Act (RLG) as defined in an expert report prepared by the
Fachsenat für Handelsrecht und Revision of the Institut
für Betriebswirtschaft, Steuerrecht und Organisation (part
of the Austrian Chamber of Tax Consultants and Certified
Accountants – Document No. 80, KFSRL 2) as amended
and supplemented at a sitting of this committee on
5 May 2004.
The use of the different accounting principles, in
particular due to the adjustment of the parameters
and revised calculation methods, gave rise to a due
back payment in the 2005 financial year compared to
31 December 2004 in the amount of TEUR 453,488. An
agreement was reached between Wiener Stadtwerke
Holding AG and the City of Vienna on this issue on
26 July 2005. On the basis of this agreement, the
entitlements accrued by the City of Vienna with regard
to the reimbursement of pension-related expenses
only need to be fulfilled to the extent that it is possible to charge these obligations exclusively against the
net result for the period reported in the consolidated
financial statements, pursuant to Article 231, para. 2 (22)
of the Austrian Commercial Code, up to a maximum of
four percent (1/25) of the amount to be reimbursed. In
line with this agreement, the back payments due will be
spread over a longer period (expected to be 25 years).
Other Group companies acceded to this agreement on
26 July 2005 and have recorded the pension obligations
taking this agreement into account. The differential

31.12.2013

31.12.2012

Real interest rate

2.50 %

2.50 %

Pension increase beneficiary

1.50 %

1.80 %

The effects of the different provisions were voluntarily accounted for ahead of time in the 2012 financial
year. Due to the revision of IAS 19 decided upon by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) on
16 June 2011 and subsequently adopted by the EU on
5 June 2012, the corridor method for reporting pension
obligations, applying the projected unit credit method, is
no longer applicable to financial years starting on or after
1 January 2013.
The impact of the revision of IAS 19 on the presentation
of the assets, financial and earnings positions of the
Group represent, in the opinion of the abovementioned
Fachsenat für Handelsrecht und Revision, a well-founded
exceptional case as defined by Article 201, para. 2, of
the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB) for a deviation
from the principle of valuation consistency as laid down
by Article 201, para. 2 (1), of the Austrian Commercial
Code.
Other provisions
The position ‘Other provisions’ recognises other provisions set up in appropriate amounts applying the principle of accounting prudence.
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Foreign exchange receivables and payables
Accounts receivable and accounts payable in other currencies are recognised at the exchange rate at which such
accounts arose. In the event that the applicable exchange
rates on the balance sheet date are lower (in the case of
receivables) or higher (in the case of payables), then these
positions are recognised at the exchange rates prevailing
on the balance sheet date unless these positions have
been hedged to eliminate currency-based risks.

Scope of consolidation
Consolidated companies
The consolidated financial statements of Wiener
Stadtwerke Holding AG encompass all of those companies necessary to represent a true and fair picture of the
asset, financial and earnings positions of the Group. The
scope of consolidation is determined in accordance with
Article 247, para. 1, of the Austrian Commercial Code
(UGB). The following table provides an overview of the
number of companies consolidated fully, pro rata and
based on the equity method.

Balance at
31.12.2012
First consolidated
during financial year

Full
consolidation

Pro-rata
consolidation

33

3

6
1

0

0

No longer
consolidated

−3

0

Balance at
31.12.2013

30

3

At equity

ant to Article 262, para. 1, of the Austrian Commercial
Code (UGB), WIEN ENERGIE Vertrieb GmbH & Co KG is
therefore fully consolidated in the financial statements of
Wiener Stadtwerke on a pro rata basis in accordance with
its share in equity (assets).
Due to the framework agreement concluded between the
shareholders of EconGas GmbH, Wien Energie GmbH
exercises considerable influence over the commercial
and corporate policies of EconGas GmbH. EconGas has
therefore been consolidated in these financial statements
based on the equity method as an associated company.
A total of 26 subsidiaries (prior year: 25) were not fully
consolidated. Similarly, 24 companies (prior year: 21) were
not consolidated applying the equity method. The consolidation of these companies is immaterial to providing
a true and fair picture of the assets, financial and earnings
positions of the Group (Article 249, para. 2, and Article
263, para. 2, of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB)).
Those subsidiaries not fully consolidated are generally
characterised by low turnover. The total assets of these
subsidiaries represent less than two percent of the consolidated balance sheet total.
Pursuant to Article 249, para 1, of the UGB, the company
Gemeinnützige Wohnungs- und Siedlungsgesellschaft of
Wiener Stadtwerke GmbH was not consolidated.
Since 2012, the scope of consolidation for the Group’s
financial statements has included a company which
reports in a foreign currency. This means that, since this
time, it has been necessary to perform a foreign currency
translation.

7

A list of the Group’s holdings may be obtained directly
from the offices of the parent company.
For an overview of companies consolidated fully, pro
rata and based on the equity method, please refer to
the list of holdings in the Notes.
WIEN ENERGIE GmbH, as a limited partner, holds a
100-percent interest in the assets and results of WIEN
ENERGIE Vertrieb GmbH & Co KG. EnergieAllianz Austria
GmbH acts as the general partner without paid-in capital.
WIEN ENERGIE Vertrieb GmbH & Co KG is managed
jointly in accordance with the agreements reached
relating to ENERGIEALLIANZ Austria GmbH. Pursu-
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Changes in the scope of consolidation during the
financial year
There were no new companies fully consolidated in the
Group’s financial statements in the year under review.
Kraftwerk Nußdorf Errichtungs- und Betriebs GmbH
was consolidated at equity for the first time in the 2013
financial year.
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In the car parks segment, CITY PARKGARAGEN
Betriebsgesellschaft m.b.H. was merged with WIPARK
Garagen GmbH.
In addition to this, in the energy segment FERNWÄRME
WIEN GmbH was legally integrated into WIEN ENERGIE
GmbH. The primary network pipes for district heating
and parts of the Telecommunications Division (particularly the passive fibre-optic network) were transferred
from WIEN ENERGIE GmbH to the sister company WIEN
ENERGIE Stromnetz GmbH. In the last step, WIEN ENERGIE Gasnetz GmbH was merged with WIEN ENERGIE
Stromnetz, thereby creating WIENER NETZE GmbH.

Consolidation principles
Capital consolidation applied the book value method.
Differential amounts arising in the periods up to and
including the 2008 financial year between the valuations
of equity investments and the proportional share of
equity in subsidiaries were recognised under the position
‘Capital reserves’ in accordance with Article 261, para. 1,
of the Austrian Commercial Code.
Shares in subsidiaries not held by the Group are recognised under the position ‘Minority interests’.
During the consolidation of liabilities, licences, prepayments made, lendings, accounts receivable – trade, other
receivables and accrued income are offset against the
corresponding liabilities and provisions.
All Group-internal expenses and income are offset in
the course of the expenses and income consolidation
of the Group subsidiaries in accordance with Article 257,
para. 1, of the Austrian Commercial Code. In the event of
Group-internal construction work, the associated revenues are reclassified as own work capitalised.
Intercompany results within the Group are recognised in
income and eliminated in accordance with the principal
of materiality. No elimination of intercompany results has
been applied to companies valued applying the equity
method given that their influence on the overall standing
of the Group is immaterial.

Deferred tax assets based on intercompany results, and
resulting from the different accounting options available
during the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as opposed to the financial statements of the individual subsidiaries, are no longer recognised following
a Group-internal consolidated tax agreement effective
since 2005. The untaxed reserves (with the exception of
investment allowances) recognised in the financial statements of the subsidiaries are, therefore, carried under the
position retained earnings without any corresponding
deferral of taxes.
The differential amounts resulting from the capital
accounting of companies recognised applying the
equity method are determined according to the same
principles applied to fully consolidated companies. Wherever possible and material, these valuations are adjusted
to correspond to group-wide valuation methods.
These consolidated financial statements are based to
a certain extent on estimations and assumptions which
have an influence on the values of assets and liabilities,
the representation of other obligations on the balance
sheet date, and on details of revenues and expenses
during the period under review. The actual figures and
amounts may deviate from these estimations.

Notes to the Consolidated Balance
Sheet
The numbering of the following explanations (notes)
relates to that provided in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet and the Consolidated Profit and Loss Account. The
numbering is sequential and is without other relevance.

(1) Fixed assets
For details of developments in specific fixed asset positions and a breakdown of depreciation and amortisation
by asset type for the financial year 2013, please refer to
the table entitled Statement of Changes in Tangible and
Intangible Assets.
The land value element of developed plots of land
amounts to TEUR 213,793 (prior year: TEUR 208,681).
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(2) Intangible assets

1. Licenses, industrial property
rights and similar rights including associated licenses
2. Goodwill
3. Prepayments
Intangible assets

US cross-border leasing (CBL) transactions
31.12.2013
EUR

31.12.2012
EUR

For details of the US CBLs, please refer to ‘(28) US
cross-border lease transactions’ in the ‘Notes to the
Consolidated Profit and Loss Account’.

142,057,134

143,972,348

Lendings

2,964,363

4,643,799

11,870,730

7,433,666

156,892,227

156,049,813

Total
31.12.2013

Of which
term to
maturity
< 1 year

Of which
term to
maturity
> 1 year

Lendings to affiliated
companies

25,862,359

486,243

25,376,116

Lendings to companies
in which shares are held

25,812,927

1,016,777

24,796,150

Other lendings

69,132,521

23,400

69,109,121

120,807,806

1,526,420

119,281,386

Total
31.12.2012

Of which
term to
maturity
< 1 year

Of which
term to
maturity
> 1 year

Lendings to affiliated
companies

27,795,214

502,992

27,292,221

Lendings to companies
in which shares are held

16,181,141

in EUR

(3) Tangible assets
31.12.2013
EUR

31.12.2012
EUR

1. Land, land rights and buildings, including buildings on
third-party land

4,797,669,310

4,646,281,803

2. Plant and equipment

3,843,983,099

3,843,064,866

3. Other equipment, furniture
and fixtures

187,311,636

180,263,177

4. Prepayments and plant under
construction.

654,936,056

798,274,673

9,483,900,100

9,467,884,519

Total tangible assets

Total

in EUR

Other lendings
Total

16,181,141

82,946,084

5,734,155

77,211,928

126,922,438

6,237,148

120,685,290

(4) Financial assets
Non-current financial assets
31.12.2013
EUR

31.12.2012
EUR

1. Shares in affiliated companies

71,437,806

70,773,229

2. Lendings to affiliated
companies

25,862,359

27,795,214

3. Shares in associated
companies

7,170,585

3,906,810

795,985,765

796,994,026

25,812,927

16,181,141

1,349,699,791

1,338,798,145

69,132,521

82,946,084

0

0

2,345,101,753

2,337,394,649

4. Shareholdings
5. Lendings to companies in
which shares are held
6. Long-term financial investments and rights
7. Other lendings
8. Prepayments to companies in
which shares are held
Financial assets
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The book and market values of securities at 31 December
2013 are set out in the following table in accordance with
Article 237a of the UGB:

WSTW I-V
Shares and
investments
US lease depot
Pension
reinsurance
Total securities

Book value
31.12.2013

Market value
31.12.2013

Difference
in %

1.175.266.254

1.300.822.140

10.7 %

192.001

270.161

40.7 %

169.591.735

169.591.735

0.0 %

4.649.801

4.649.801

0.0 %

1.349.699.791

1.475.333.837

9.3 %

On balance, the net assets values are above the carrying
values due to hidden reserves. The capital-weighted per-
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formance of the WSTW Fund YTD (1 January–31 December 2013) is positive at +1.20 percent despite the
conservative investment strategy and the challenging
environment in financial markets.
Structure of the WSTW fund portfolio at 31.12.2013
34.6 %

Money market

60.9 %

Bonds

3.8 %

Shares

0.7 %

Miscellaneous

Total
31.12.2012

Accounts receivable –
trade

297,093,509

293,646,340

3,447,170

14,579,356
793,503

14,507,056
721,203

72,300
72,300

50,802,143
46,872,607

49,492,424
45,562,888

1,309,719
1,309,719

283,624,968

217,852,802

65,772,166

646,099,976

575,498,621

70,601,355

Accounts receivable –
affiliated companies

100 % fixed-term deposits held by
Austrian banks

of which trade

Average rating AA
of which 37.8 % (23.0 % absolute) Austrian treasury bonds

Receivables from companies in which shares
are held
of which trade
Other accounts receivable and assets

100.0 %

Total

(5) Current assets
(6) Inventories
31.12.2013
EUR

31.12.2012
EUR

127,043,858

122,751,635

633,877

933,668

3,493,153

359,109

25,572

53,726

131,196,460

124,098,139

1. Raw materials and supplies
2. Finished products and goods
3. Uninvoiced services
4. Prepayments
Inventories

in EUR

Of which
term to
maturity
< 1 year

Of which
term to
maturity
> 1 year

The position ‘Other assets’ in the 2013 financial year mainly
recognises receivables due from the financial authorities
as well as investment grants from the Federal Ministry for
Transport, Innovation and Technology, the Lower Austrian
Provincial Government and the City of Vienna.
General valuation adjustments have been made in
the amount of TEUR 58 (prior year: TEUR 291). Specific
valuation adjustments for accounts receivable – trade
and for other receivables made during the course of the
2013 financial year amounted to TEUR 70,266 (prior year:
TEUR 57,583).

(8) Prepayments and accrued income
(7) Receivables and other assets

in EUR

Total
31.12.2013

Of which
term to
maturity
< 1 year

Accounts receivable –
trade

281,890,337

278,523,723

3,366,614

Accounts receivable –
affiliated companies

4,158,915

4,158,915

0

395,473

395,473

0

49,702,800

49,283,426

419,374

1,833,284

1,413,910

419,374

281,661,245

219,355,456

62,305,789

617,413,296

551,321,519

66,091,777

of which trade
Receivables from companies in which shares
are held
of which trade
Other accounts receivable and assets
Total

Of which
term to
maturity
> 1 year

This position largely recognises additional amounts transferred to provisions for pension fund obligations (dating
back to 2005) in the amount of TEUR 202,078 (prior year:
TEUR 254,157) in addition to prepayments for deliveries of
natural gas.

(9) Group equity
The capital stock in the amount of TEUR 500,000 (previous year: TEUR 500,000) is divided into 6,880,150 shares
held by the City of Vienna.
The capital reserves include restricted capital reserves in
the amount of TEUR 94,798 (previous year: TEUR 94,798).
Of the revenue reserves, TEUR 25,885 (previous year:
TEUR 25,885) are statutory revenue reserves the company
is legally required to hold.
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The retained earnings also include positive and negative
differential amounts arising out of the first-time and subsequent consolidation of Group companies, in addition
to untaxed reserves and foreign exchange-related differential amounts.
The differential amounts of fully consolidated companies
recognised in equity at 31. December 2012 are made up
as follows:
Affiliated companies
WIENER NETZE GmbH (formerly
WIEN ENERGIE Stromnetz GmbH)
WIEN ENERGIE Gasnetz GmbH
Fernwärme Wien GmbH
WIEN ENERGIE GmbH
ENERGIECOMFORT Energie- und
Gebäudemanagement GmbH
Wien IT GmbH

31.12.2013
in EUR

31.12.2012
in EUR

−243,387

−3,771

0

−239,616

0

87,450,072

87,450,072

0

6,868,082

6,868,082

−23

−23

WIENER LINIEN GmbH & Co KG

126,380,113

126,380,113

−875

−875

AG der Wiener Lokalbahnen

−676,500

−676,500

Wiener Lokalbahnen Verkehrs
dienste GmbH

1,275,833

1,275,833

350,968

350,968

WIENER STADTWERKE
Vermögensverwaltung GmbH

−100,793

−100,793

WIEN ENERGIE Speicher GmbH

2,458,756

2,458,756

WIPARK Garagen GmbH

−127,109

8,903,282

0

−9,023,039

−232,422

3,791

WIENER LINIEN GmbH

B&F Wien – Bestattung und
Friedhöfe GmbH

CITY PARKGARAGEN
Betriebsgesellschaft m.b.H.
Windnet GmbH
Parkraum Wien
Management GmbH
Total

163,515

163,515

223,566,229

223,809,794

Please refer to the annex for details of changes in equity.

(10) Provisions
Group provisions developed as follows over the course of the period:
in EUR
Provisions for
Pensions
Severance payments
Taxes
Miscellaneous
Total

Balance at
31.12.2012

Consumed /
reversed

Additions

Balance at
31.12.2013

3,031,067,155

260,453,984

301,596,722

3,072,209,893

62,972,924

1,985,764

4,555,172

65,542,332

829,366

411,158

289,186

707,394

435,357,168

200,891,185

268,504,912

502,970,895

3,530,226,613

463,742,091

574,945,992

3,641,430,514

Provisions for pensions
For details of the valuation method applied, please refer
to the section ‘Accounting and valuation principles’
above.
A breakdown of pension obligations, taking the mortality
tables into account (AVÖ 2008-P – Rechnungsgrundlagen
für die Pensionsversicherung – Pagler & Pagler) is in the
adjacent table.
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NPV / cash value of pension
obligations
Less unrealised actuarial losses
Provision for pension
obligations
Less differential amounts not
recognised in income (carried as
accrued income)
Net pension obligations

31.12.2013
EUR

31.12.2012
EUR

3,072,209,893

3,031,067,154

0

0

3,072,209,893

3,031,067,154

−202,078,007

−254,156,651

2,870,131,886

2,776,910,503
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Provisions for taxes
Provisions for taxes in the amount of TEUR 5 (prior year:
TEUR 406).

Stadtwerke Holding AG had pledged 1,999,886 shares
in Verbund. The rights to dividend payments are also
covered by the pledges.

(12) Accrued expenses and deferred income
Other provisions
The other provisions take into account obligations relating to environmental aspects, claims for restitution assert
by customers and invoices received.
Moreover, a contingent liability was set up in connection
with the marketing of electricity from supply rights in the
amount of TEUR 113,248 (previous year: TEUR 22,855).
There are also provisions totalling TEUR 53,071 for restoration obligations for real estate (prior year: TEUR 52,515).

The position ‘Accrued expenses and deferred income’
mainly relates to investment grants of TEUR 3,078,618
(prior year: EUR 3,008,304) and grants for construction
projects of TEUR 465,896 (prior year: TEUR 467,330)
relating to fixed assets. These represent future revenues
which are reversed to negate, to a certain extent, the
depreciation expense over periods which parallel the
scheduled depreciation of the relevant assets for which
the grants were provided.

(13) Contingent liabilities
(11) Liabilities
There follows on page 66 a breakdown of Group liabilities
by term to maturity.
In June 2013, WIENER STADTWERKE Holding AG borrowed EUR 200 million on the capital market by means
of bonded loans and registered bonds. Approximately
70 institutional investors from Austria and Germany
subscribed to bullet loans or bonds with terms of 5, 7, 10
and 15 years. The terms of 5 and 7 years were issued with
fixed and variable interest rates; terms of 10 and 15 years
with just fixed interest rates. The funds were passed on to
Group companies via back-to-back contracts.
The other liabilities are largely made up of obligations
arising out of US cross-border lease transactions entered
into by Wiener Linien, liabilities due to the financial
authorities, liabilities due to the City of Vienna and liabilities in connection with citizen solar power projects.
In the course of the 2013 financial year, no mutual securitisations were issued.
Physical securities
The financing of additional shares in Verbund acquired in
the course of a capital increase was based in part on the
raising of a Lombard loan on the part of WEEV Beteiligungs GmbH. This loan is secured by a pledge relating
to the Verbund shares acquired. Due to the decline in
the Verbund share price, it became necessary to provide additional collateral. At 31 December 2013, Wiener

At the balance sheet date, the Group recognised contingent liabilities in the amount of TEUR 485,932 (prior year:
TEUR 496,632). These liabilities are offset by contingent
receivables in the amount of TEUR 234,889 (prior year:
TEUR 269,862).
The contingent liabilities include US cross-border lease
transactions entered into by Wiener Linien in the amount
of TEUR 225,233 (prior year: TEUR 242,841). These liabilities are offset by means of rights of recourse in the same
amount recognised as assets.
A number of restricted and unrestricted letters of
comfort and guarantees have been issued on behalf of
e&t Energie Handelsgesellschaft. Taking into account
the contracts concluded by e&t Energie Handelsgesellschaft m. b. H. with its trading partners, the net
liability position amounts to EUR 82,430 million (prior
year: TEUR 70,348). In the event that the guarantees and
or letters of comfort issued in favour of trading partners
of e&t Energie Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H. are called
in or exercised by the same, then Wien Energie GmbH
may assert rights of recourse against the remaining
shareholders in the amount of TEUR 21,280 (prior year:
TEUR 17,366).
The remaining contingent liabilities relate predominantly
to liability bonds issued in favour of EconGas GmbH and
Verbund, and comfort letters and guarantees issued in
favour of Oemag AG, AWISTA GmbH, Gate Terminal
Rotterdam and for locomotives owned by Wiener Lokalbahnen Cargo GmbH.
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G R O U P L I A B I L I T I E S B Y T E R M T O M AT U R I T Y

Total
31.12.2013

Of which
term to maturity
< 1 year

Of which
term to maturity
1–5 years

Of which
term to maturity
> 5 years

0

0

0

0

Liabilities due to banks

154,488,536

21,708,677

76,529,505

56,250,354

Bonds

200,000,000

0

30,000,000

170,000,000

9,928,786

9,928,786

0

0

0

0

0

0

503,513,266

501,117,548

2,161,294

234,424

8,286,486

8,286,486

0

0

2,917,350

2,917,350

0

0

30,217,873

28,793,175

1,424,698

0

28,220,409

28,220,409

0

0

459,968,157

284,250,859

66,468,594

109,248,704

92,394,487

92,394,487

0

0

6,596,197

6,596,197

0

0

1,465,393,787

953,076,214

176,584,091

335,733,481

Total
31.12.2012

Of which
term to maturity
< 1 year

Of which
term to maturity
1–5 years

Of which
term to maturity
> 5 years

in EUR
Bonds issued

Prepayments received
of which from affiliated companies
Accounts payable – trade
Liabilities due to companies in which shares are
held
of which trade
Accounts payable – companies in which shares are
held
of which trade
Other liabilities
Other liabilities – tax
Other liabilities – social security
Total

in EUR

1,957,149

1,957,149

0

0

Liabilities due to banks

Bonds issued

168,597,286

28,837,320

81,085,246

58,674,721

Prepayments received

11,979,251

9,479,251

2,500,000

0

0

0

0

0

420,667,170

418,218,765

2,155,375

293,030

7,214,180

7,214,180

0

0

2,807,545

2,807,545

0

0

53,097,506

51,103,514

1,993,993

0

of which from affiliated companies
Accounts payable – trade
Liabilities due to companies in which shares are
held
of which trade
Accounts payable – companies in which shares are
held

50,519,675

50,519,675

0

0

Other liabilities

of which trade

662,430,808

504,720,487

65,739,278

91,971,043

Other liabilities – tax

103,271,426

103,271,426

0

0

8,594,364

8,594,364

0

0

1,437,809,142

1,133,396,457

153,473,892

150,938,793

Other liabilities – social security
Total
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Notes to the Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
(14) Turnover
Turnover by segment:
2013
in EUR

External revenues

Electricity
Gas
Heat
Energy
Transport

2012

Internal revenues

External revenues

Internal revenues

1,437,768,333

234,155,099

1,897,172,819

317,816,463

471,689,821

11,173,461

558,702,940

68,293,431

520,945,016

714,389

722,830,948

17,911,279

2,430,403,170

246,042,949

3,178,706,707

404,021,173

570,787,726

1,348,730

571,279,014

1,054,490

Funeral services

70,381,673

14,292,332

70,351,317

13,918,616

Parking facility management

17,113,427

194,616

15,415,766

2,248,864

Miscellaneous

90,646,922

0

94,559,177 0

0

Intra-segment revenues*
Total
1)

−134,950,969

134,950,969

−154,527,112

154,527,112

3,044,381,949

396,829,596

3,775,784,869

575,770,256

The line ‘Intra-segment revenues’ relates to revenues generated between business segments.

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy segment relate to five quarters.

For details of the Group’s various segments, please refer
to the Group Management Report in the section on segment reporting.
The other operating income was allocated to the relevant
commercial divisions of the energy segment.
Revenues generated abroad represent an insignificant
proportion of the revenues of the Wiener Stadtwerke
Group.

The position ‘Other operating income’ includes income
from the reversal of investment grants in the amount of
TEUR 125,637 (prior year: TEUR 129,856), building grants
in the amount of TEUR 50,662 (prior year: TEUR 32,003),
and grants from the City of Vienna relating to the operations of Wiener Linien GmbH & Co KG. All income
generated by non-core business activities (e.g. IT services, advertising space, etc.) is also recognised under
this position.

(16) Cost of materials and services
(15) Other operating income
in EUR

Income from the disposal and write up of assets, with the
exception of financial assets
in EUR

2013

2012

1. Income from the disposal and
write up of assets, with the exception of financial assets

35,900,164

32,750,228

2. Income from the reversal of
provisions

33,690,894

26,068,566

3. Remaining
Other operating income

2013

2012

1. Cost of materials

664,455,605

1,671,912,885

2. Cost of services purchased

985,974,625

408,393,578

1,650,430,230

2,080,306,462

Cost of materials and
manufacturing services

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy seg-

626,988,080

623,766,778

696,579,138

682,585,572

ment relate to five quarters.

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy
segment relate to five quarters
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(17) Personnel expenses

The expenses for severance payments and pensions can
be broken down as follows:

in EUR

2013

2012

1. Wages

404,362,449

442,090,656

in EUR

2. Salaries

343,276,950

386,513,873

Board members and
senior managers

10,467,027

18,568,962

244,128,623

975,438,093

3. Severance payments and
contributions to occupational
pension funds
4. Pension fund contributions
5. Expenses for legally prescribed social expenses and
salary-related charges and
mandatory contributions
6. Other social expenditure
Personnel expenses

Other employees
Total severance payments

in EUR
158,804,512

173,898,080

5,601,875

8,538,385

1,166,641,436

2,005,048,049

Board members and
senior managers
Other employees
Total pension fund contributions

2013

2012

318,030

451,705

10,148,997

18,117,257

10,467,027

18,568,962

2013

2012

5,741,031

4,194,141

238,387,592

971,243,952

244,128,623

975,438,094

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy

segment relate to five quarters

segment relate to five quarters

The total remuneration received by members of the
Board of Management amounted to TEUR 1,573 (prior
year: TEUR 1,243). A total of TEUR 52 (prior year: TEUR 55)
was paid to members of the Supervisory Board in the
2013 financial year.

The majority of the high expenses for pension obligations
(around EUR 745.4 million) in 2012 is accounted for by the
change in the calculation method (switch to entry-age
normal method) and the market-related adjustment in the
applicable interest rate.

The workforce is made up as follows:

The expenses for severance payments and pensions contain both adjustments in the amounts set up as provisions
in addition to the severance and pension payments actually made. The expenses for severance payments also
include contributions in the amount of TEUR 3,542 (prior
year: TEUR 3,364) made to occupational pension funds.

Average headcount in FTEs

2013

2012

Wage earners

9,726

9,814

Salaried employees

5,974

5,805

Trainees / apprentices
Total1)
1)

402

409

16,102

16,028

Excluding those on parental leave, military and civilian service.

During the reporting period, a total of 51 (prior year: 49)
personnel were employed by ENERGIEALLIANZ Austria
GmbH, a company consolidated on a pro rata basis.
These individuals are reported in the headcount on a proportional basis. Wien Energie Vertrieb GmbH & Co KG
does not have any direct employees.

(18) Depreciation of tangible assets and amortisation of intangible assets
For details regarding the depreciation of tangible assets
and amortisation of intangible assets by asset type,
please refer to the consolidated statement of changes in
tangible and intangible assets.
in EUR
1. Depreciation of tangible assets
and amortisation of intangible
assets
of which impairment charges
relating to fixed assets pursuant
to Art. 204 (2) UGB

2013

2012

787,408,565

655,135,601

275,702,283

73,695,358

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy
segment relate to five quarters
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(19) Other operating expenses
in EUR
1. Taxes in as far as these are not
included under ‘Taxes on income
and earnings’
2. Remaining
Other operating expenses

(21) Income from other securities and lendings of
non-current financial assets
2013

2012
in EUR

58,895,001

66,696,303

545,020,783

606,679,719

603,915,784

673,376,022

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy
segment relate to five quarters

The remaining operating expenses amount to
TEUR 60,098 (prior year: TEUR 102,009) and consequently
represent approximately ten percent of the total of other
operating expenses.
Auditing expenses (Article 266 (11) of the Austrian
Commercial Code)
During the 2013 financial year, a total of TEUR 912 (prior
year: TEUR 1,084) was expended for audits performed by
the Group’s auditor. This amount is broken down as follows:

Audit expenses

2013

2012

32,800

34,800

Expenses for other audit-like
services

401,200

532,200

Expenses for other services

478,131

517,205

912,131

1,084,205

Total

of which in affiliated companies

2012

12,301,496

12,306,254

888,040

886,442

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy
segment relate to five quarters

The remaining operating expenses relate mainly to
expenses for maintenance, transport, rent, cleaning and
advertising.

in EUR

Income from other securities and
lendings of non-current financial
assets

2013

(22) Other interest and similar income
in EUR

2013

2012

Other interest and similar income

6,763,060

10,597,479

of which in affiliated companies

31,281

54,417

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy
segment relate to five quarters

(23) Expenses / income from associated
companies
The shares in the results of investments in associated
companies consolidated in the financial statements of
the Group developed as follows over the course of the
financial year:
Balance at
01.01.2013
3,906,810

Additions

Depreciation

Dividends
paid

Balance at
31.12.2013

0

−275,619

7,170,585

3,539,394

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy
segment relate to five quarters

(24) Expenses associated with financial assets
and available-for-sale securities

The high level of expenses for other audit-related
services in 2012 is accounted for by the change in the
balance sheet date, as a result of which two sets of annual
financial statements (2011/2012 and the short financial
year Oct–Dec 2012) had to be audited for the relevant
Group subsidiaries in the 2012 financial year.

(20) Investment income
in EUR
Income from investments
of which in affiliated companies

2013

2012

52,421,444
1,698,679

39,674,721
1,285,604

in EUR

2013

2012

1,074,165

53,339,070

of which writedowns

533,406

53,270,354

of which expenses relating to
affiliated companies

361,266

49,701

Expenses associated with financial assets and available-for-sale
securities

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy
segment relate to five quarters

Due to the change in the balance sheet date, the 2012 figures for the energy
segment relate to five quarters
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(25) Income taxes
The Group incurred net tax expenses in the financial year
amounting to TEUR −30 (prior year: TEUR 319). This figure
includes reallocations of tax assets and liabilities between
Group companies (Gruppensteuerumlage) in an amount
of TEUR 465 (prior year: TEUR 245).
Deferred tax assets in the amount of TEUR 34,023 (prior
year: TEUR 41,894) were not reversed; this being optional
on the basis of Article 198, para. 10, of the Austrian Commercial Code.

As a result of Bank Austria Leasing taking over the
payment obligations for the borrowed portion of the
sub-lease instalments (payment undertaking agreement
or PUA), the debt depot is balanced in the same amount
against the US trust and is therefore not recognised on
the balance sheet. However, given that the Company
remains liable for the as yet unredeemed portion of the
sub-lease obligations, this amount is reported under the
position ‘Contingent liabilities’.
The securities held in the equity depot serve to collateralise the remaining sub-lease payments to be made by the
Company.

(26) Changes in reserves
Please refer to the table ‘Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity’ for an overview of changes in reserves.

(27) Other financial obligations as defined by
Article 266 (2) of the Austrian Commercial Code
Future obligations arising out of the use of tangible
assets not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:
in EUR
of which relating to next year
of which relating to the next five
years

2013

2012

36,346,589

27,679,183

177,700,824

134,737,453

(28) US cross-border lease transactions
In 1998, Wiener Linien recognised underground rolling
stock and trams on the basis of US cross-border lease
transactions (lease-in-lease-out structure). This involved
leasing the vehicles to a US trust under a so-called head
lease. At the same time, Wiener Linien GmbH & Co KG
leased the vehicles back from the trust under a sub-lease
agreement. The US trust made a leasing prepayment
to Wiener Linien GmbH & Co KG, the amount of which
was such that two depots (a debt and an equity depot)
could be funded to meet the sub-leasing obligations. The
inflow of funds in excess of that required by the depots
(net cash value advantage) is recognised as an accrual
and is reversed over the term of the leasing agreements
under the position other interest and similar income.
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In the financial years 1999, 2001 and 2003, further US
lease transactions were concluded in the form of a
service contract structure. Given that it was possible
to entirely transfer the payment obligations to financial
institutions (payment undertakers), the balance sheet
only recognises the net inflow of cash as an accrual.
As in the case of the earlier transactions, the amount
recorded as an accrual is being reversed in line with the
term of the lease agreement under the position ‘Other
interest and similar income’. The payment obligations
transferred to the contractual partners under payment
undertaking agreements (PUA) are reported as contingent liabilities.
These financial transactions were entered into in
USD. Their translation into EUR was based on historical exchange rates. The remaining receivables and
payables in USD on the balance sheet date are maturity congruent and may be regarded as closed out
positions.
Given that the payment obligations transferred to the
contractual partners by means of the PUAs entail a
residual performance risk borne by Wiener Linien in the
event of the contractual partners defaulting, this is taken
into account in the annual financial statements as at
31 December 2013 as follows:
With regard to the contractual partner the performance by whom is also covered by a public guarantee
obligation, the risk of default may be considered to be
extremely low, as a result of which, and based on the
assessment of the Company, no need exists to take any
impairment charges in the annual accounts.
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However at 31 December 2013 it was necessary to create
a provision in the amount of TEUR 322 as a result of the
expiration of a public guarantee obligation relating to the
US cross-border lease transaction IV in 2015.
A provision has been set up for the contractual partner
AIG which has a rating of under AA, issued by Standard
& Poor’s, and for which none of the abovementioned
forms of collateral exist. The amount of the provision
is determined on the basis of the historical probability
of default measured using the rating of the contractual partner and the residual term to maturity of the
transactions. As at 31 December 2013, transferred
obligations (discounted future payment obligations)
exist in an amount of approximately TEUR 46,399 (prior
year: TEUR 43,734) for which provisions in the annual
financial statements as at 31 December 2013 amounting to TEUR 637 (prior year: TEUR 725) have been set
up (i.e. TEUR 88 have been reversed and recognised in
income).
Specifics / events after the conclusion of the
contract:
The transactions concluded in 1998 were subsequently
restructured in December 2003. This involved restructuring those portions concluded with the investor Bank of
America (then NationsBank) relating to underground and
tram vehicles from a LILO to a service contract structure,
whereby an additional net cash value advantage was
generated for Wiener Linien GmbH & Co KG. In 2008, a
rating downgrade of the collateral provider AIG necessitated additional collateral in the form of US treasury
bonds being tendered. These securities are pledged to
the investor, Bank of America. In February 2009, a valuation unit for accounting purposes was established by
means of a foreign currency loan. The effective date for
assessing the intrinsic value of the collateral is always the
15th of January of every year. No purchase of additional
US treasury bonds was necessary in the past financial
year.
On the initiative of the investor, in 2006 the Trusts
Fleetbank 1998-1 and 2 associated with the first US
lease transaction were terminated prematurely and
the relevant liabilities vis-à-vis the investor were settled through the assignment of the US treasury bonds
held.

In January 2009, the second tranche of the third US
cross-border lease transaction was terminated prematurely. However, one component of the transaction
(B-Kreditseite), with Bank Austria UniCredit Group as the
lender, including the associated PUA (PUA depot holder:
BAWAG-PSK), remains in effect. Due to the elimination
of the underlying transaction, the relevant amounts were
de-recognised as contingent liabilities and recognised
on the balance sheet as amounts with identical volumes
carried as liabilities due to banks and receivables arising
out of non-current financial assets respectively.
In May 2009, the fourth US cross-border lease transaction was also terminated prematurely. The remaining
component of the transaction (B-Kreditseite), with
Kommunalkredit Austria AG as the lender and Portigon
as the depot holder, has been recorded on the balance
sheet in the same manner as the second tranche of the
third US cross-border lease transaction. Given that this
transaction involved the inclusion of 20 vehicles owned by
Wiener Lokalbahnen AG by means of a power of attorney
issued by Wiener Linien acting in its own name but on the
account of a third party, these include receivables and
payables relating to the transactions (B-Kredit / B-PUA
and pro rata WLB shares) irrespective of a later transfer
of risks and costs on the part of Wiener Lokalbahnen AG.
For commercial reasons, components of the payment
undertaking agreements relating to equity remained
effective, with the repayment in USD, however, being in
favour of Wiener Linien.
In June 2009 and at the request of the investor, the
remaining components of the second US cross-border
lease transaction (Trusts FA 1998-1 and 2) were terminated prematurely and the relevant liability due to the
investor was settled by means of the assignment of the
US treasury bonds held. The payment undertaking agreement and the loan were also terminated (resulting in the
elimination of the contingent liability).
In July 2011, an exchange of the equity PUA for US
treasury bonds was implemented with SwissRE Financial
Products Corp. relating to the fifth US cross-border lease
transaction (Trusts FT 2003-1 and 2). Due to the change
in the contract, the relevant amounts were recognised
in identical volumes as liabilities vis-a-vis US trusts and
recognised on the balance sheet as non-current financial
assets rather than as contingent liabilities.
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The following positions associated with US lease transaction are reported in the balance sheet:
31.12.2013
TEUR

31.12.2012
TEUR

Non-current financial assets
108,061

102,757

Depot to recollateralise US lease R

45,252

45,252

Depot for US lease V

16,279

15,563

169,592

163,572

Depots for US lease I and R

10,765

3,110

Provisions

959

725

Liabilities due to banks

−99,365

Forward contracts sold

369,402

15,625

Oil swaps

8,732

21

Gas swaps

4,491

−108

149,033

−19,306

1,506

312

48,876

−686

Futures purchased

10,765

15,674

USD loan from Kommunalkredit
Austria AG

46,235

46,235

57,000

61,909

125,087

118,713

12,481

14,493

225,233

242,841

Nominal value1)

Fair value2)

Forward contracts
purchased

749,363

−96,779

Forward contracts sold

377,520

43,352

Oil swaps

123,054

2,130

Futures purchased

118,014

−15,408

17,028

4,527

Futures sold

Depot obligations arising out of
US lease III/2 und IV (Bank Austria
UniCredit Group and Kommunalkredit
Austria AG) USD loan granted by
Kommunalkredit Austria AG

1)

T he nominal amount is equivalent to the contractual volume
(agreed quantity × agreed price).

Accrued expenses and deferred
income

(29) Financial instruments
The derivative-based financial instruments serve to
hedge energy sector exposures and exchange rate risks.
These are recorded as anticipatory hedges and match
future underlying transactions.
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850,845

2012

747

Contingent liabilities
= contingent assets

Fair value2)

15,674

(associated with the PUA for US lease IV
(Bank Austria UniCredit Group)
State Street, Trust SS1998-2)

Deferred fair value of US lease
transactions

Nominal value1)

Forward contracts
purchased

CHF swap

Positive balances at banks

Other US trust obligations

2013

Futures sold

Other lendings
Prepayment instruments at BAWAGPSK (US lease III/2) and at WestLB
(US lease IV)

There follows a breakdown of the derivative-based financial instruments held by certain Group companies on the
balance sheet date:

2)

T he net present value is equivalent to the market value
(fair value − gain/loss).

The contracts refer to electricity supply deals concluded
by e&t Energie Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H.
The oil swaps were concluded to limit the costs of primary
energy sources.
Due to adjustments relating to a major gas supply contract, on the balance sheet date of 31 December 2013,
as was the case at 31 December 2012, no valuation unit
exists with regard to actual electricity sales at fixed prices
and derivative-based transactions, which were entered
into in order to hedge variable production costs associated with the generation of electricity in thermal power
stations. Valuation were therefore made for forward
electricity-based transactions and oil-based swaps which
have led to provisions for negative fair values in the
amount of TEUR 411 (prior year: TEUR 2,429) in the case of
oil swaps and TEUR 140 (prior year: TEUR 4) in the case of
forward rate agreements (electricity sales).
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The futures held on the balance sheet date relate to
asset-backed securities in the amount of TEUR 4,668
(prior year: TEUR 3,831) which are balanced by entries
under the position ‘Other receivables’. Gains (positive
variation margins) arising out of open futures contracts
amounting to TEUR 0 (prior year: TEUR 0) have been
offset by accrued expense entries and pending losses
(negative variation margins) from
futures contracts in the amount of TEUR 21,836 (prior
year: TEUR 7,122) have been offset by entries in position
‘Prepayments and accrued income’.
The loan due to the European Investment Bank with a
nominal value of CHF 60 million was carried at its nowfixed repayment amount of TEUR 49,562. A cross currency
swap was concluded to hedge the exchange rate. The
conditions were present to create a valuation unit.

Other information

information, the billing of expenses and interest, the inclusion of new members and the termination options relevant
to the cash pooling scheme.

Executive bodies
The Board of Management was made up of the following members during the financial year:
zz
zz
zz
zz

Gabriele Payr (CEO) (up to 31 December 2013)
Martin Krajcsir (Vice-CEO)
Marc Hall
Gabriele Domschitz

The Supervisory Board was made up of the following
members during the financial year:
zz Erich Hechtner (Chairman)
zz Richard Neidinger (First Vice-Chairman)

(up to 31 December 2013)
zz Dietmar Griebler (First Vice-Chairman)

Cash pooling
In order to achieve efficient working capital management
and optimise interest-based revenues and expenses, the
Wiener Stadtwerke Group introduced a Group-wide cash
pooling scheme with effect from 1 July 2010.
A master cash pooling agreement was concluded between
WIENER STADTWERKE Finanzierungs-Services GmbH
(master company) and the participating cash pooling subsidiaries (cash pool members). Furthermore, an agreement
was also concluded between the cash pool members
(including WIENER STADTWERKE Finanzierungs-Services
GmbH) and the bank managing the cash pool. A Group
policy document was also introduced. This agreement
and the Group policy document regulate the exchange of

zz
zz
zz
zz
zz
zz
zz
zz
zz
zz
zz

(since 25 February 2014)
Meinhard Eckl (Second Vice-Chairman)
Brigitte Jilka
Michael Holoubek
Stephan Koren
Werner Muhm
Sigrid Oblak
Heinz Kollinger (up to 23 January 2014)
Kurt Januschke (since 23 January 2014)
Günther Koch
Michael Bauer
Andreas Bauer

During the past financial year, no material transactions
other than those applying arm’s-length conditions were
entered into with any companies or individuals associated
with the Group.

Vienna, 20 March 2014
THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
Martin Krajcsir
Gabriele Domschitz
Marc H. Hall
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Innovative
solutions for
a future worth living

Wiener Stadtwerke plays a key role in the
development of the environmentally friendly
and forward-looking Smart City

Vienna. With the help of model projects,
research collaborations and grants, we are
looking for answers to pressing questions
relating to urban energy supply and stateof-the-art urban mobility. By means of these
innovative projects, Wiener Stadtwerke is
setting the course now for Vienna’s future.
The future of a city which will offer levels
of quality of life and comfort at least
as high as today despite its growing
population.

Annual Report 2013 Unqualified Audit Opinion

Unqualified Audit Opinion1
Report on the consolidated financial statements
We have audited these consolidated financial statements of

WIENER STADTWERKE Holding AG, Vienna,

for the financial year from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013. These statements comprise the Consolidated
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2013, the Consolidated
Profit and Loss Account, The Consolidated Cash Flow
Statement and the Consolidated Statement of Changes
in Equity for the year to 31 December 2013, as well as the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Responsibility of the Company’s legal representatives
for the consolidated annual financial statements and
the Group’s accounting
The Group’s legal representatives are responsible for
its accounting and for the preparation of consolidated
annual financial statements which, to the maximum
extent possible, present a true and fair view of the
Group’s assets, finances and earnings in accordance
with the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB). This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system, to the extent that this
is relevant to the preparation of consolidated annual
financial statements and to the presentation of a true
and fair view of the Group’s assets, finances and earnings, such that these statements are free from material
misstatement whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting and valuation
methods; and making estimates which are reasonable
under the circumstances.

1

Auditors‘ responsibilities and description of the
nature and scope of the statutory audit
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated annual financial statements based on
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Austrian statutory requirements and generally
accepted accounting principles. These principles
require that we comply with the relevant codes of
professional conduct, and plan and perform the
audit so as to obtain reasonable assurance that
the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves the performance of audit procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and
other disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The selection of these procedures is at the
due discretion of the auditors, taking into account
their assessment of the risk of material misstatement
due to fraud or error. In making this risk assessment,
the auditors consider the internal control system, to
the extent relevant to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the presentation of a
true and fair view of the Group’s assets, finances and
earnings, in order to arrive at audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. An audit also
includes assessing the appropriacy of the accounting
methods applied and of significant estimates made by
the Company’s legal representatives, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a sound basis for our
audit opinion.

T he publication or dissemination of the consolidated financial statements attested by our audit report is only permissible in the form in which these were audited. These
audit report relates exclusively to the full financial statements, including the report, prepared in the German language. Reference is made here to the requirements set
out in Article 281, para. 2, of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB) with regard to any other versions hereof.
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Opinion
Our audit gave rise to no objections. Based on the
results of our audit, in our opinion the consolidated
financial statements to the maximum possible extent
conform to the legal regulations, and present a true
and fair view of the Group’s assets and finances as at
31 December 2013, as well as its earnings and cash
flows for the financial year from 1 January 2013 to
31 December 2013, in accordance with Austrian statutory requirements.

Opinion on the Management Report
The legal regulations require us to audit the Group
Management Report to determine whether it is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and
whether the other disclosures made in the Management Report do not present a false view of the Group’s
position.
The auditor’s report must also contain a statement as to
whether the Group Management Report is consistent
with the consolidated financial statements.
In our opinion the Group Management Report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

Vienna, 26 March 2014
BDO Austria GmbH
Auditors and Tax Advisors
Peter Bartos		
Christoph Achzet
Auditor			Auditor
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List of Holdings
Interest in %
WSTW Holding AG

Interest in %
WSTW Holding Group

1. Wiener Stadtwerke Holding AG, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

100.00

100.00

2. Wien Energie GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

100.00

100.00

3. Wiener Netze GmbH, Erdbergstraße 236, 1110 Vienna

100.00

100.00

0.00

100.00

5. Wiener Linien GmbH, Erdbergstraße 202, 1030 Vienna

100.00

100.00

6. Wiener Linien GmbH & Co KG, Erdbergstraße 202, 1030 Vienna

100.00

100.00

7. B&F Wien – Bestattung und Friedhöfe GmbH, Simmeringer Hauptstraße 339, 1110 Vienna

100.00

100.00

8. Friedhöfe Wien GmbH, Simmeringer Hauptstraße 339, 1110 Vienna

0.00

100.00

9. WienIT Dienstleistungs GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 6, 1030 Vienna

Fully consolidated companies:

4. Energiecomfort Energie- und Gebäudemanagement GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 15,
1030 Vienna

100.00

100.00

10. WienIT Dienstleistungs GmbH & Co KG, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 6, 1030 Vienna

100.00

100.00

11. Parkraum Wien Management GmbH, Würtzlerstraße 3/4, 1030 Vienna

100.00

100.00

12. WIPARK Garagen GmbH, Würtzlerstraße 3/4, 1030 Vienna
13. Aktiengesellschaft der Wiener Lokalbahnen, Eichenstraße 1, 1121 Vienna
14. Wiener Lokalbahnen Verkehrsdienste GmbH, Eichenstraße 1a, 1120 Vienna
15. Wiener Lokalbahnen Cargo GmbH, Anton-Baumgartner-Straße 10, 1230 Vienna

0.00

100.00

99.94

100.00

0.00

100.00

0.00

100.00

16. WIENER STADTWERKE Vermögensverwaltung GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

100.00

100.00

17. WIENER STADTWERKE Finanzierungs-Services GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

0.00

100.00

18. WSTW TownTown GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

0.00

100.00

19. WSTW TownTown GmbH & Co Residenz KG, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

0.00

100.00

20. WSTW TownTown GmbH & Co Stationsturm KG, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

0.00

100.00

21. Bestattung Wien GmbH, Simmeringer Hauptstraße 339, 1110 Vienna

0.00

100.00

22. BFW Gebäudeerichtungs- u. Vermietungs GmbH, Simmeringer Hauptstraße 339, 1110 Vienna

0.00

100.00

23. BFW Gebäudeerichtungs- u. Vermietungs GmbH & Co KG, Simmeringer Hauptstraße 339,
1110 Vienna

0.00

100.00

24. Wien Energie Bundesforste Biomasse Kraftwerk GmbH, 1. Haidequerstraße 1, 1110 Vienna

0.00

66.67

25. Wien Energie Bundesforste Biomasse Kraftwerk GmbH & Co KG, 1. Haidequerstraße 1,
1110 Vienna

0.00

66.67

26. Wien Energie Speicher GmbH, Erdbergstraße 236, 1110 Vienna

0.00

100.00

27. Beteiligungsmanagement IWS Verwaltungs GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

0.00

100.00

28. Vienna Energy Természeti Erö KFT, Aradi utca 16, HU-1062 Budapest, Hungary

0.00

100.00

29. Windnet Windkraftanlagenbetriebs GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

0.00

100.00

30. Windnet Windkraftanlagenbetriebs GmbH & Co KG, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

0.00

100.00
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Interest in %
WSTW Holding AG

Interest in %
WSTW Holding Group

1. e&i EDV Dienstleistungsgesellschaft m.b.H., Thomas-Klestil-Platz 6, 1030 Vienna

0.00

50.00

2. e&t Energie Handelsgesellschaft m.b.H., Wienerbergstraße 11, 1100 Vienna

0.00

45.00

3. IWS TownTown AG, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

0.00

44.00

4. EPZ Energieprojekt Zurndorf GmbH, Kasernenstraße 9, 7000 Eisenstadt

0.00

42.40

5. TELEREAL Telekommunikationsanlagen GmbH, Mollardgasse 8/Top 19, 1060 Vienna

0.00

25.00

6. EconGas GmbH, Donau-City-Straße 11, 1220 Vienna

0.00

16.51

7. Kraftwerk Nußdorf Errichtungs- und Betriebs GmbH & Co KG, Am Hof 6a, 1010 Vienna

0.00

33.33

Interest in %
WSTW Holding AG

Interest in %
WSTW Holding Group

0.00

100.00

Companies consolidated at equity:

Proportionally consolidated companies
1. WIEN ENERGIE Vertrieb GmbH & Co KG, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna
2. ENERGIEALLIANZ Austria GmbH, Wienerbergstraße 11, 1100 Vienna

0.00

45.00

3. PAMA-GOLS Windkraftanlagenbetriebs GmbH & Co KG, Kasernenstraße 9, 7000 Eisenstadt

0.00

50.00

Interest in %
WSTW Holding AG

Interest in %
WSTW Holding Group

1. Wienstrom Naturkraft GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

0.00

100.00

2. Wienstrom Naturkraft GmbH & Co KG, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

0.00

100.00

3. Serviskomfort s.r.o.,Volgogradská 88, SK-08001 Prešov, Slovakia

0.00

100.00

4. Vienna Energy forta naturala S.R.L., Street Sfanta Vineri, no.29, Bectro-Center,
RO-030203 Bukarest, Romania

0.00

100.00

5. Hauscomfort GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 15, 1030 Vienna

0.00

100.00

6. Energiecomfort Hungary Energetik, Régi Vámház tér 12, HU-9200 Mosonmagyarovar,
Hungary

0.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

0.00

100.00

Companies not included in the full scope of consolidation:1) 2)

7. Gemeinnützige Wohnungs- und Siedlungsgenossenschaft der
Wiener Stadtwerke GmbH, Nelkengasse 6, 1060 Vienna
8. R.H. pro domo Servicegesellschaft m.b.H., Nelkengasse 6/6, 1060 Vienna

100.00

100.00

10. Wiener Stadtwerke Vermögensverwaltung Alpha GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

9. WIENCOM Werbeberatungs GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

0.00

100.00

11. Wiener Linien Verkehrsprojekte GmbH, Erdbergstraße 202, 1030 Vienna

0.00

100.00

12. Sarglogistik Wien GmbH (vormals Sargerzeugung Atzgersdorf GmbH),
Anton-Mayer-Gasse 3, 1110 Vienna

0.00

100.00

13. pax diebestattung GmbH, Landstraßer Hauptstraße 39, 1030 Vienna

0.00

100.00

14. Krematorium Wien GmbH, Simmeringer Hauptstraße 339, 1110 Vienna

0.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

16. Tierfriedhof Wien GmbH, Simmeringer Hauptstraße 339, 1110 Vienna

0.00

70.00

17. WIPARK KONZUMPARKOLO Kft., Irgalmasok u. 5, 7621 Pécs, Hungary

0.00

90.00

18. Geothermiezentrum Aspern GmbH, Spittelauer Lände 45, 1090 Vienna

0.00

100.00

19. Druckerei Lischkar & Co GmbH, Migazziplatz 4, 1120 Vienna

0.00

100.00

20. Spravbytkomfort a.s., Volgogradská 88, SK-08001 Prešov, Slovakia

0.00

55.00

21. Wiener Stadtwerke Management Beta Beteiligungs GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14,
1030 Vienna (in liquidation)

0.00

52.63

22. Neu Leopoldau Entwicklungs GmbH, Messeplatz 1, 1020 Vienna

0.00

51.00

23. MHC Calinesti Rau S.R.L., Street Sfanta Vineri, no.29, Bectro-Center, RO-030203 Bucharest,
Romania

0.00

100.00

24. Wien Energie Bernegger Wasserspeicherkraftwerk Pfaffenboden GmbH, Gradau 15,
4591 Molln

0.00

100.00

25. PTGwsg GmbH, Nelkengasse 6/6, 1060 Vienna

0.00

100.00

26. HH 59 Garagenerrichtungs- & Betriebs GmbH, Würtzlerstraße 3/4, 1030 Vienna

0.00

100.00

15. Neue Urbane Mobilität Wien GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna
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Interest in %
WSTW Holding AG

Interest in %
WSTW Holding Group

1. Köszegi Távhözolgáltató Korlátolt Felelösségü Társaság, Deak Ferenc u.2.,
HU-9730 Köszeg, Hungary

0.00

50.00

2. Ortswärme Seefeld GmbH, Rosshütte 865, 6100 Seefeld in Tirol

0.00

50.00

3. Polska Sila Wiatru SP.z.o.o., ul. Sienna 73, 00-833 Warszawa, Poland

0.00

50.00

4. PAMA-GOLS Windkraftanlagenbetriebs GmbH, Kasernenstraße 9, 7000 Eisenstadt

0.00

50.00

5. TT – KOMFORT s.r.o., Frantiskanska 16, SK-917 32 Trnava, Slovakia

0.00

50.00

6. Ortswärme Oberstaufen GmbH, Schloßstraße 8, D-87534 Oberstaufen, Germany

0.00

50.00

7. Ortswärme Oberstaufen GmbH & Co KG, Schloßstraße 8, D-87534 Oberstaufen,
Germany

0.00

50.00

8. T+E Liegenschaftsverwertung GmbH & Co OG, Erdbergstraße 236 c/o Wiener Netze
GmbH, 1110 Vienna

0.00

50.00

10. Energy Eastern Europe Hydropower GmbH, Hans-Klöpfer-Straße 28-30, 8750 Judenburg

0.00

49.00

11. Bytkomfort s.r.o., SNP 9, SK-94060 Nové Zamky, Slovakia

0.00

49.00

12. TownTown Tiefgaragen GmbH, Würtzlerstraße 3/8, 1030 Vienna

0.00

44.00

13. TownTown Tiefgaragen GmbH & Co. KG, Würtzlerstraße 3/8, 1030 Vienna

0.00

44.00

14. Wiener Stadtwerke Management Alpha Beteiligungs GmbH in Liqu.,
Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

0.00

69.10

15. Kraftwerk Nußdorf Errichtungs- und Betriebs GmbH, Am Hof 6a, 1010 Vienna

0.00

33.33

16. Ortswärme Tannheim GmbH, Unterhöfen 18, 6675 Tannheim

0.00

24.86

17. Ortswärme Grän GmbH, Dorfstraße 1, 6673 Grän

0.00

24.86

18. PROCOMFORT GmbH, Salurner Straße 11, 6020 Innsbruck

0.00

50.00

19. EVN-WIEN ENERGIE Windparkentwicklungs- und Betriebs GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14,
1030 Vienna

0.00

50.00

20. EVN-WIEN ENERGIE Windparkentwicklungs- und Betriebs GmbH & Co KG,
Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

0.00

50.00

21. Aspern Smart City Research GmbH, Thomas-Klestil-Platz 14, 1030 Vienna

0.00

49.95

22. Aspern Smart City Research GmbH & Co KG, Seestadtstraße 27, 1220 Vienna

0.00

49.95

23. Bestatterakademie GmbH, Simmeringer Hauptstraße 339, 1110 Vienna

0.00

49.00

24. WEEV Beteiligungs GmbH, EVN Platz, 2344 Maria Enzersdorf

0.00

49.99

Companies not consolidated at equity:3)

1)

Not consolidated on the grounds of Article 249 (2) Austrian Commercial Code (UGB)

2)

On the grounds of immateriality in terms of providing a true and fair picture of the assets, financial and earnings positions, no details of equity or annual result are
provided

3)

Not consolidated on the grounds of Article 263 (2) Austrian Commercial Code (UGB)
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Glossary
Technical and industry-specific terms

Biodiversity

EEX (European Energy Exchange)

Biodiversity, or biological diversity, refers to the variability among living
organisms of any origin, including land, marine and other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes they belong to.

The EEX is a market place for energy and energy-related products and,
with over 200 market players from 22 countries, is currently the leading
energy exchange on the European mainland.

CAPEX ratio

EGT

The CAPEX ratio is an indicator of the propensity of a company to invest,
i.e. the percentage of turnover invested in tangible and intangible assets.

EGT is the abbreviation for earnings before tax (also referred to as the
result of ordinary activities). It is calculated as follows: EBIT ± financial
result = EBT.

Capital employed
Shareholder‘s equity + interest-bearing borrowings + provisions for
pensions − securities held to cover pension fund obligations − working
capital

Capitalisation ratio
(Fixed assets / total assets) × 100

Cash flow
Cash flow is an economic indicator which expresses the financial
resources of a company and its ability to finance dividend payments,
service its debts and fund investments from its own business activities.

Certification
Certification refers to successfully withstanding an audit of products or
services, operational processes or entire companies performed by an
independent and accredited certification company relating to compliance with criteria, mostly defined in standards, which is acknowledged by
means of the awarding of a certificate (e.g. seal of approval or standard).

CO2 emission certificates
These permit the holder to emit a defined quantity of CO2. Certificates
can be traded without restriction; their price being determined by the
principle of supply and demand.

e-mobility on demand
The pilot project ‘e-mobility on demand‘ is paving the way for an
area-wide and use-oriented e-mobility concept for the Greater Vienna
metropolitan area. The objective is to test important new components of
a use-oriented and complex range of e-mobility services. The overriding
aim, however, is to increase the share of public transport in the modal
split and to establish electromobility not as an alternative but as a supplement to public transport.

Energy efficiency
Energy efficiency is the ratio between energy input and energy output.
When producing electricity in power stations, a considerable proportion
of the primary energy employed is converted into heat. Relying on cogeneration technology, this heat is used in combined heat and power plants
to produce district heating.

Environmental management system
An environmental management system, e.g. EMAS or ISO 14001, includes
a clear organisational structure, planning activities, responsibilities, codes
of conduct and standard operating procedures in order to ensure compliance with environmental legislation as well as with voluntary additional
targets in terms of environmental protection.

Equity ratio
Cogeneration technology (CHP)

(Shareholder’s equity / total equity and liabilities) × 100

By producing electricity and heat at the same time – co-generation – fuels
can be used as efficiently as possible.

Equity-to-fixed-assets ratio

District cooling

[ (Shareholder‘s equity + social capital + long-term borrowings +
deferred investment grants)/ fixed assets ] × 100

This refers to supplying buildings with refrigerated air for air conditioning purposes. The necessary refrigeration (cold) is either generated at a
refrigeration centre and then delivered to consumers via well insulated
district cooling networks, or the refrigeration is generated on-site by the
consumer by means of heat absorption machines relying on the hot water
supplied by the district heating network.

Essential services
Providing essential services means ensuring that every citizen has equal
access to all necessary services and facilities which are considered essential to the smooth running of a modern society, and thus are associated
with a particular responsibility for public welfare.

EBIT margin

IPD

EBIT margin = EBIT (restated) / turnover (restated)

Integrated Personnel Development
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ISO 14001

Smart Campus

ISO 14001 is the ISO standard for eco-management systems.

The project entitled “Smart Campus” refers to the construction of the
new corporate headquarters of Wiener Netze which are being built on
the former gas network site in Simmering. The shared location will make
it possible to make better use of synergies within Wiener Netze in the
future.

Mobility card
A mobility card is a collective card for a range of combinable transportation services. The aim is to improve convenience for the customer, to
improve access to additional services and to open up the possibility to
try out new services. The Wiener Stadtwerke mobility cluster plans to
introduce such a card in Vienna at the beginning of 2015. Basic services
included are the use of public transport, e-charging stations and city
bikes; there are plans to increase the mobility services offered to include
car sharing or taxis, etc.

Modal split
The share of each individual type of transport compared to the total traffic
volume.

NOX

NOX is the abbreviation for all forms of nitrogen oxides.

Notional debt repayment period
Total debt / net cash flow

OHSAS 18001
OHSAS stands for Occupational Health and Safety Assessment Series.
Much like ISO 14001, this is also management system, albeit relating to
the occupational safety of employees.

Passenger kilometres transported
Passenger kilometres transported is a unit of measurement for public
transportation. It refers to the total passenger carrying capacity offered
by a transport provider on a particular route travelled using a specific
means of transport. No account is taken of whether these services are
used or not.

Photovoltaic plants
Plants which use sunlight to generate electricity. If heat is produced, then
reference is made to solar thermal plants.

Primary energy

Smart City
The term ‘Smart City’ refers to a city in which systematic information and
communication technologies, as well as resource-saving technologies,
are used to pave the way toward a fossil-free society, to reduce the use of
resources, to sustainably improve both quality of life for citizens and the
competitiveness of local industry – i.e. to improve the future prospects
of the city. This includes considering at least those aspects relating to
energy, mobility, urban planning and governance.

Smart Grid
A smart grid is an intelligent electricity network. This encompasses the
communication-based management of electricity producers, storage
facilities, consumers and infrastructure in the transmission and distribution networks relevant to supplying electricity. The aim is to integrate
decentralised electricity production facilities and those with variable
outputs – e.g. from renewable sources such as photovoltaic plants, wind
turbines and biogas facilities – into the network and yet to ensure that
network stability remains optimal. The intention is to achieve efficient and
reliable system operations and safeguard security of supply.

Smart Metering
Smart metering combines modern metering technology with IT and communication technologies as the keys to providing up-to-date information
on energy use by consumers, electronically transmitting consumption
data to network operators, pricing dependent on current levels of availability of electricity and the connection of devices to the meter.

SMILE
The SMILE project (Smart Mobility Info and Ticketing System Leading the
Way to Effective E-mobility Services) involves developing a prototype for
an Austria-wide, multi-modal, mobility platform which provides access to
various public and private mobility services.

The term primary energy refers to naturally occurring forms and sources
of energy which, in contrast to secondary energy, can be released without conversion. Besides fossil fuels such as natural gas, oil, brown and
hard coal, these also include renewable sources of energy such as solar
energy, geothermal energy, wind and hydro power as well as biomass.

Spot market

Productivity

Thermal power station

Consolidated turnover / [ (headcount prior year / headcount current
year) / 2 ]

Many power stations rely on steam; some on gas turbines. The waste heat
generated when producing energy should also be used (see  Cogeneration / CHP).

Risk management
Risk management refers to the systematic reporting and assessment
of risks as well as the management of responses to identified risks. This
procedure is applied in numerous areas such as in the management of
corporate risks, credit risks, financial investment risks, environmental
risks, insurance risks and technical risks.

ROCE
(Return on Average Capital Employed) EBIT restated to exclude the
interestbearing components of provisions for pension obligations as well
as the effects of grant-funded investments / [ (capital employed in period
+ capital employed in prior period) ] / 2.
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A spot market is a trading place for spot transactions (for immediate delivery) where prices are determined on the basis of supply and
demand. This includes trading in securities, oil and energy (refer also to
 EEX).

ULF (Ultra-low-floor)
The type of low-floor trams used by Wiener Linien.
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